

This document has changed from the published version. A comparison document provided.

# FA 2024 Framework Agreement 2024

2024 FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

### Framework Agreement (FA)

## Appropriate:

- for the procurement of construction/engineering related works over a period of time;
- for use by clients with contractors and/or suppliers;
- for use by contractors, sub-contractors and/or suppliers sub-letting to others in the supply chain;
- for use with most standard forms of construction and engineering contracts and sub-contracts.

#### Can be used:

- where compliance with the public procurement rules is required;
- on a single project.

This contract document is created using JCT's online service. Changes or choices made by the contract creator mean that this document differs from the original JCT text. A comparison document, showing all the changes from the original JCT text, is available and must be provided with the contract by the contract creator to all parties to the contract under the terms and conditions of the use of this service. Please note that the finalised version of a contract document that has been output from this service includes the comparison document automatically. Reports of failure to observe the terms and conditions of the use of this service may result in this service being suspended.

This document has been produced electronically by Rapidocs software and is derived from the published printed version (March 2025). Its use is subject to the software licence agreement. Thomson Reuters and the Thomson Reuters Logo are trademarks of Thomson Reuters. Sweet & Maxwell ® is a registered trademark of Thomson Reuters (Professional) UK Limited.

For details of 2024 Edition changes, see the Framework Agreement Guide (FA/G) and the Tracked Change Document.

www.jctltd.co.uk

# **Contents**

	Framework Agreement	_1
1	Definitions	
2	Interpretation	
3	The role of the Framework Agreement	
4	Tasks	
5	The Framework Objectives	
6	Legal status of Framework Agreement	
7	Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999	
8	Organisational structures and decision making	
9	Collaborative working	
10	The Provider's Supply Chain	
11	Sharing of information and know-how	
12	Communications protocol	
13	Confidentiality	
14	Risk assessment and risk allocation	
15	Health and safety	
16	Sustainable development and environmental considerations	
17	Value engineering	
18	Change control procedures	
19	Early warning	
20	Team approach to problem solving	
21	Performance Indicators	
22	Framework End Date and termination	
23	Settlement of disputes	
24	Mediation	
25	Adjudication	
26	Arbitration	
27	Legal proceedings	
28	Applicable law and jurisdiction	
	Framework Particulars	11
	Attestation	15
Annex 1	Enquiry	
Annex 2	Order	
Annex 3	Pricing Documents	

i

# **Framework Agreement**

# **This Framework Agreement**

is made the \_\_\_22 September

## **Between**

# The Employer

New Forest District Council

of Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, SO43 7PA

# And

# The Provider

A P Faulkner Limited

Place of incorporation: England and Wales

(Company No. 804474)[1]

whose registered office is at Unit K, Bridge Farm Reading Road, Arborfield, Reading, RG2 9HT

Where the Employer or Provider is neither a company incorporated under the Companies Acts nor a company registered under the laws of [1] another country, delete the references to Company number and registered office. In the case of a company incorporated outside England and Wales, particulars of its place of incorporation should be inserted immediately before its Company number.



In consideration of the sum of one pound (£1) paid by the Employer to the Provider (receipt of which is acknowledged) the Parties have agreed the following provisions of this Framework Agreement.

#### 1 **Definitions**

Unless the context otherwise requires, the following words and phrases, where they appear in capitalised form in this Framework Agreement, shall have the meanings stated or referred to below:

Employer: the person named as Employer at the beginning of this Framework Agreement and such person's successors in title.

Enquiry: a request in the form set out at Annex 1 by the Employer to the Provider indicating that the Employer wishes to call-off the provision by the Provider of specified Tasks.

Framework End Date: see the Framework Particulars (against the reference to clause 22.1).

Framework Objectives: see clause 5.

Framework Particulars: the particulars referred to as such in this Framework Agreement, as completed by the Parties.

Framework Start Date: see the Framework Particulars (against the reference to clause 8.1).

Framework Term: the period between the Framework Start Date and the Framework End Date or the Termination Date, whichever is the earlier.

Local or Public Authority: a body that is a 'contracting authority' as defined by the Procurement Act.

Order: the document in the form set out at Annex 2 to be issued by the Employer when calling-off any Tasks, the execution of which by the Provider constitutes a legally binding contract for the provision of the specified Tasks.

Parties: the Employer and the Provider together.

Party: either the Employer or the Provider.

Pricing Documents: see the Framework Particulars (against the reference to clause 4.5).

Procurement Act: the Procurement Act 2023 and implementing regulations.

Project Participants: any and all persons which are involved in the provision of any Tasks and indicate their willingness to embrace and adhere to the principles of collaborative working envisaged in this Framework Agreement.

Provider: the person named as Provider at the beginning of this Framework Agreement and such person's successors in title.

Scheme: Part 1 of the Schedule to the Scheme for Construction Contracts (England and Wales) Regulations 1998.

Supply Chain: any and all persons engaged by the Provider in connection with any Tasks and any further persons engaged by such persons in connection therewith.

Tasks: see the Framework Particulars (against the reference to clause 3.1).

Tender Notice: a notice published on the Find a Tender service on GOV.UK advertising the Framework Agreement.

Termination Date: the date on which this Framework Agreement is terminated pursuant to clause

Underlying Contracts: see the Framework Particulars (against the reference to clause 4.7.2).

#### 2 Interpretation

- 2.1 This Framework Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the rules of interpretation set out in clause 2.2 of this Framework Agreement and the defined words and phrases listed in clause 1.
- 2.2 In this Framework Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:



- 2.2.1 the headings, notes and footnotes are included for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Framework Agreement;
- 2.2.2 the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- 2.2.3 a gender includes any other gender;
- 2.2.4 a reference to a 'person' includes any individual, firm, partnership, company and any other body corporate;
- 2.2.5 a reference to a statute, statutory instrument or other subordinate legislation ('legislation') is to such legislation as amended and in force from time to time, including any legislation which re-enacts or consolidates it, with or without modification, and including corresponding legislation in any other relevant part of the United Kingdom; and
- 2.2.6 a reference to specific standards, codes of practice, guidelines, rules and/or schemes shall be construed as including all amendments, modifications, supplements, re-drafts and/or substitutes thereto.

#### 3 The role of the Framework Agreement

- 3.1 The main aim of this Framework Agreement is to provide a mechanism for the Tasks to be called-off and carried out and also to provide a supplemental and complementary framework of provisions designed to encourage the Parties to work with each other and with all other Project Participants in an open, co-operative and collaborative manner and in a spirit of mutual trust and respect with a view to achieving the Framework Objectives.
- 3.2 Where the Employer is a body subject to the Procurement Act in relation to the procurement of the Tasks the Parties acknowledge that they have entered into this Framework Agreement pursuant to a tender process carried out in accordance with that Act including the issue of a Tender Notice.

## Tasks

- 4.1 Where the Framework Particulars state this to be the case the Employer undertakes to calloff Tasks to be carried out by the Provider. In all other circumstances the Employer makes no representation or guarantee that it will call-off any Tasks to be carried out by the Provider and the Employer retains the absolute right to award call-offs to such other providers as it chooses.
- 4.2 Where this Framework Agreement has been entered into following a tender process under the Procurement Act, when calling-off any Tasks under this Framework Agreement the Employer shall award those Tasks in accordance with the award criteria and process set out in the relevant Tender Notice, other advertisement, the contract documents or any other relevant materials.
- When the Employer wishes to call-off the provision of Tasks by the Provider it will issue an 4.3 Enquiry to the Provider.
- 4.4 The Provider will consider the Enquiry and shall respond to the Employer with a price for the Tasks and any other information requested within the period set out in the Framework Particulars.
- 4.5 The pricing of the Tasks shall be calculated in accordance with the Pricing Documents.
- 4.6 Following receipt of the Provider's response to the Enquiry the Employer may accept or reject it. If the Employer accepts the Provider's response the Employer shall issue a completed Order in duplicate to the Provider instructing the Provider to carry out and complete the Tasks.
- 4.7 Upon receipt of a completed Order the Provider will:
  - 4.7.1 return one copy of the Order to the Employer duly executed; and
  - carry out and complete the Tasks in accordance with this Framework Agreement, 4.7.2 the Order and the Underlying Contract.

#### 5 The Framework Objectives

- The Framework Objectives are as follows: 5.1
  - 5.1.1 zero health and safety incidents;
  - 5.1.2 teamworking and consideration for others;
  - greater predictability of out-turn cost and programme; 5.1.3
  - 5.1.4 improvements in quality, productivity and value for money;
  - 5.1.5 improvements in environmental performance and sustainability and reductions in environmental impact;
  - 5.1.6 right first time with zero defects;
  - 5.1.7 the avoidance of disputes;
  - 5.1.8 Employer satisfaction with product and service;
  - 5.1.9 enhancement of the Provider's reputation and commercial opportunities; and
  - 5.1.10 consideration of, and adoption where practicable of, the recommendations and proposals contained in the Construction Playbook issued by HM Government (Version 1.1 September 2022 or such later version as is current at the date of this Framework Agreement).
- 5.2 The Provider's contribution to progress in achieving certain of the Framework Objectives will be monitored and periodically assessed in the manner indicated in clause 21.

#### 6 **Legal status of Framework Agreement**

The intention is that the provisions of this Framework Agreement will supplement and complement the provisions of the Underlying Contract and that where there is a conflict or discrepancy between this Framework Agreement and the Underlying Contract, the Parties will have full regard to the principles set out in clause 3.1 with a view to resolving that conflict or discrepancy. However, in the event of a conflict or discrepancy between the Underlying Contract and the provisions of this Framework Agreement which cannot be resolved by reference to those principles, the conflicting/discrepant provisions of the Underlying Contract will prevail over the conflicting/discrepant provisions of this Framework Agreement and the Parties will be excused compliance with the conflicting/discrepant provisions of this Framework Agreement insofar as they apply or would otherwise have applied.

#### 7 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

Without in any way detracting from or affecting any enforceable rights or benefits which third parties might have under or as a consequence of the Underlying Contracts and/or any collateral warranties provided, or to be provided, by the Parties pursuant to the Underlying Contracts, it is not intended that anything contained in this Framework Agreement should confer any enforceable rights or benefits upon third parties which are not parties to this Framework Agreement.

#### 8 Organisational structures and decision making

- 8.1 On or before the Framework Start Date each Party will provide the other Party with outline information setting out key details of their organisation and management with the aim that each Party will have sufficient details of the other in order to send or respond to an Enquiry or to call-off Tasks.
- 8.2 If and when requested by one Party following a Task being called-off, the other Party will provide a detailed organisation and management diagram setting out and explaining their own internal organisational and management structures in detail, including particulars of the roles, responsibilities and limits of authority of all key management personnel within that Party's organisation.
- 8.3 Where the further information referred to in clause 8.2 is required each Party will promptly advise the other Party of any and all organisational and/or management changes within that Party's organisation and within a reasonable period of such changes will provide the other Party with a revised organisation and management diagram reflecting the changes.
- 8.4 Where the further information referred to in clause 8.2 is required and to the extent the



Tasks involve management personnel who do not feature on the organisation and management diagram, the Party responsible for such personnel will promptly advise the other Party of such persons' roles, responsibilities and limits of authority and the identity of the manager or managers on the organisation and management diagram to whom such personnel report. Where appropriate the organisation and management diagram will be revised to include such personnel.

8.5 Where and whenever decisions need to be made concerning the Tasks the Parties will endeavour to ensure that those responsible, with authority to make such decisions, are fully briefed and on hand to make such decisions as appropriate.

#### 9 Collaborative working

- 9.1 The Parties will continually impress upon all personnel involved with the Tasks their keen desire to work with each other and with all other Project Participants in an open, cooperative and collaborative manner and in a spirit of mutual trust and respect with a view to achieving the Framework Objectives.
- 9.2 To this end, the Employer and the Provider agree that they will each report to the other, and will welcome any reports from the other, of any instances where the other Party's personnel have been particularly helpful and/or collaborative and any instances in which the other Party's personnel have not acted, or it is perceived that personnel have not acted, in an entirely open, co-operative or collaborative manner and/or in a spirit of mutual trust and respect with a view to achieving the Framework Objectives.
- 9.3 The Parties will at all times endorse and support collaborative behaviour and address behaviour which is not collaborative.

#### 10 The Provider's Supply Chain

- 10.1 The Provider will endeavour to see to it that all members of its Supply Chain are made aware of, understand and are prepared to embrace and adhere to the principles of collaborative working envisaged in this Framework Agreement. Where practicable and appropriate the Provider will engage members of its Supply Chain on terms which incorporate or reflect such principles.
- 10.2 The Provider will, where practicable and appropriate, endeavour to consult with and/or involve members of the Provider's Supply Chain in relation to the following essential aspects of the Tasks:
  - 10.2.1 design development;
  - 10.2.2 project planning;
  - 10.2.3 risk assessment and risk allocation;
  - 10.2.4 health and safety assessments and planning;
  - 10.2.5 assessing and improving upon environmental performance and sustainability and reducing environmental impact;
  - 10.2.6 value engineering;
  - 10.2.7 change control;
  - 10.2.8 quality control;
  - 10.2.9 early warning; and
  - 10.2.10 problem solving.

#### 11 Sharing of information and know-how

11.1 If either Party has, in its possession, custody or control, any knowledge or information (other than the excluded categories of knowledge and information referred to in clause 11.2) which it is, or becomes, clear would be of assistance to the other Party in the performance of the Tasks, or would be of assistance to any of the other Project Participants in the performance of them, then that Party will promptly volunteer and share such knowledge or information with the other Party and/or Project Participants without having to be asked for the same and irrespective of whether that Party is contractually obliged to

share such knowledge or information pursuant to the Underlying Contract.

- 11.2 Neither Party will be expected to volunteer or share:
  - trade secrets which are only known to that Party and upon which that Party's 11.2.1 business is essentially founded;
  - 11.2.2 knowledge or information which a Party is legally and/or contractually prohibited from disclosing to the other Party and/or other Project Participants; or
  - 11.2.3 knowledge or information which is privileged from disclosure.

#### 12 Communications protocol

- 12.1 Without in any way detracting from or affecting the specific notice and communication requirements of the Underlying Contracts, the Parties, in conjunction with the other Project Participants, will endeavour to develop and agree a common communications protocol the key objectives of which will be the promotion of clear and effective communication and the dissemination and ready availability of information essential to the success of each of the Tasks.[2]
- 12.2 In their communications with each other and with other Project Participants, the Parties will at all times endeavour to keep things factual and to the point and will avoid self-serving statements, assertions of blame and/or emotive or provocative language.

#### 13 Confidentiality

- 13.1 Subject always to clause 13.2 and save as may be strictly necessary for the proper performance of the Tasks, or as either Party may specifically consent to in writing, the Parties shall treat as confidential and shall not disclose to any person which is not a Project Participant any information of a confidential nature relating to the other Party, the other Project Participants, this Framework Agreement, the Underlying Contracts and/or the Tasks which is disclosed to and/or acquired by the recipient of such information during the currency of the Framework Term.
- 13.2 The general prohibition on disclosure of confidential information set out in clause 13.1 shall not apply to information which has ceased to be confidential and is in the public domain through no fault of the Parties or other Project Participants nor to any disclosure which either of the Parties or any of the Project Participants is required to make by law. Where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority or other body of the type mentioned in clause 13.4. its obligations of confidentiality shall also be subject to that clause.
- 13.3 The Provider shall not, without the prior written consent of the Employer, publish alone or in conjunction with any other person any articles, illustrations, photographs or videos relating to any Tasks.
- 13.4 Where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority or other body to which the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 ('FOIA') apply, the Parties acknowledge that, except for any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of FOIA, the content of this Framework Agreement is not confidential. The Employer shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion whether any of the content of this Framework Agreement is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of FOIA. Notwithstanding any other term of this Framework Agreement:
  - 13.4.1 the Provider hereby consents to the Employer publishing any amendments to the standard form JCT contract in their entirety, including changes to the standard form agreed from time to time, but in each case with any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of FOIA redacted;
  - 13.4.2 the Employer shall promptly inform the Provider of any request for disclosure that it receives in relation to this Framework Agreement.

#### 14 Risk assessment and risk allocation

14 1 Where stated in an Enquiry or otherwise agreed between the Parties, as part of the process of responding to an Enquiry the Provider will, in conjunction with other key

[2]

prospective Project Participants, participate in an all-party, pre-contract, collaborative risk analysis of the Tasks to which the Enquiry relates with a view to:

- 14.1.1 identifying significant potential risks involved in the Tasks the occurrence of which might have serious health and safety and/or environmental implications and/or a material adverse effect upon the out-turn cost, programme and/or quality of them;
- 14.1.2 determining the likelihood of such risks occurring and the seriousness of the likely consequences thereof; and
- 14.1.3 determining which Project Participant is best able to manage such risks.
- 14.2 Having identified and provisionally graded and allocated significant potential risks, the Employer may draw up and circulate a risk allocation schedule or matrix recording the results and recommendations of the collaborative risk analysis.
- 14.3 The Parties and other Project Participants will periodically review, update and where necessary revise the risk allocation schedule/matrices and integrated risk allocation and management strategies during the currency of the relevant Tasks.

#### 15 Health and safety

- 15.1 Without in any way detracting from or affecting either Party's statutory and/or regulatory duties and responsibilities and/or the specific health and safety requirements of the Underlying Contracts, the Parties will endeavour to establish and maintain in respect of all Tasks a culture and working environment in which health and safety is of paramount concern to everybody involved with the Tasks and health and safety takes precedence over all other considerations.
- 15.2 As a first step towards raising health and safety standards in respect of the Tasks, in addition to the specific health and safety requirements of the Underlying Contracts the Provider undertakes to:
  - 15.2.1 comply with any and all approved codes of practice produced or promulgated by the Health and Safety Executive;
  - 15.2.2 take all reasonable steps to encourage all personnel engaged by the Provider and/or members of the Provider's Supply Chain to be registered cardholders under the Construction Skills Certification Scheme (CSCS) or qualified under an equivalent recognised qualification scheme;
  - 15.2.3 ensure that all personnel engaged by the Provider and/or members of the Provider's Supply Chain receive comprehensive site specific health and safety induction training and regular refresher training;
  - 15.2.4 ensure that all personnel engaged by the Provider and/or members of the Provider's Supply Chain have access, at all times, to competent health and safety advice in accordance with regulation 7 of the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999; and
  - 15.2.5 ensure that there is full and proper health and safety consultation with all personnel engaged by the Provider and/or members of the Provider's Supply Chain in accordance with the Health and Safety (Consultation with Employees) Regulations 1996.

#### 16 Sustainable development and environmental considerations

The Provider will assist the Employer and the other Project Participants in exploring ways in which the environmental performance and sustainability of the Tasks might be improved and environmental impact reduced. For instance, the selection of products and materials and/or the adoption of construction/engineering techniques and processes which result in or involve:

- 16.1 reductions in waste;
- 16.2 reductions in energy consumption;
- 16.3 reductions in mains water consumption;



- 16.4 reductions in CO2 emissions;
- 16.5 reductions in materials from non-renewable sources;
- 16.6 reductions in commercial vehicle movements;
- 16.7 maintenance or optimisation of biodiversity;
- 16.8 maintenance or optimisation of ecologically valuable habitat; and
- 16.9 improvements in whole life performance.

#### 17 Value engineering

- 17.1 The Provider is encouraged to suggest changes to Tasks which, if implemented, would result in financial benefits to the Employer. Such benefits may arise in the form of:
  - 17.1.1 a reduction in the capital cost of the project of which the Tasks form part;
  - 17.1.2 a reduction in the life cycle and/or operating costs associated with the project;
  - 17.1.3 completion of the project at an earlier date or in a manner which will result in savings; and/or
  - 17.1.4 any other financial benefit to the Employer.
- 17.2 The Parties will discuss the details of any changes and any cost, time, quality and performance implications of them with a view to agreeing the implementation of any changes and the financial effects of them provided that such changes remain compliant with the pricing procedures set out in the Pricing Documents and, if applicable, the Procurement Act.
- 17.3 Such agreement will be confirmed by the Employer either by means of an amendment to the relevant Underlying Contract or by means of a written instruction issued under the relevant Underlying Contract clearly identifying, in either case, the agreed implications of the change, the financial benefits to the Employer and (if appropriate) the Provider's share of such benefits.
- 17.4 Upon completion of the relevant Task, the Employer shall pay or allow to the Provider the agreed proportion of the agreed financial benefit agreed between the Parties.
- 17.5 Any agreed change shall be clearly identified as a change proposed pursuant to this clause 17 of the Framework Agreement. Where the Provider has suggested changes, the Employer may only instruct the implementation of such changes in accordance with the procedures and benefit sharing arrangements referred to in this clause 17, provided always that nothing shall prevent the Employer from utilising other providers to implement the suggested change post completion of the project in question.

#### 18 Change control procedures

The Parties will endeavour to agree the cost, time, quality and performance implications of any and all changes/variations under the Underlying Contract in advance of the implementation of such changes/variations provided that such changes/variations remain compliant with the pricing procedures set out in the Pricing Documents and, if applicable, the Procurement Act.

#### 19 Early warning

Without in any way detracting from or affecting the particular notice requirements of the Underlying Contracts, each of the Parties will promptly warn the other Party in writing of any matter or concern of which it becomes aware which in that Party's reasonable opinion is likely to affect the out-turn cost or programme or the quality or performance of any Tasks.

#### 20 Team approach to problem solving

20.1 In the event of a technical and/or logistical problem with any Tasks, whatever the origins of the problem and whichever Party may be contractually responsible for the same, the Parties will work together and with the other Project Participants to try and find a solution to the problem which is safe and environmentally sensitive; minimises the effect on the outturn cost and/or programme and/or the quality and/or performance of the Tasks; and is acceptable to the Employer.

20.2 Where and to the extent the Provider incurs cost in contributing to a solution which it is not contractually obliged to contribute to pursuant to the relevant Underlying Contract, the Parties will endeavour to agree a fair and reasonable adjustment to the Provider's remuneration commensurate with the Provider's contribution to the solution to the problem, provided that such changes and adjustments remain compliant with the Procurement Act.

#### 21 **Performance Indicators**

- 21.1 Where it is stated in the Framework Particulars that this clause 21 applies, the Provider's contribution to progress in achieving certain of the Framework Objectives in the carrying out and completion of Tasks will be monitored and assessed by reference to the Performance Indicators stated or identified in the Framework Particulars.
- 21.2 The Provider will provide the Employer with such information and assistance as the Employer may reasonably require in order to assess the Provider's contribution to progress in achieving the Framework Objectives.
- 21.3 Upon completion and handover of the relevant Tasks the Employer will provide the Provider with a written report summarising the Employer's assessment of the Provider's performance against each of the Performance Indicators and the basis of each such assessment. Where and to the extent the Performance Indicators envisage a score and/or weighting being attributed to a given aspect or element of the Provider's performance, the Provider's performance will be scored and weighted accordingly and the aggregate scores set out in the Employer's report.
- 21.4 The Employer and Provider will jointly review the Employer's report with a view to:
  - 21.4.1 identifying any aspects or elements of the Provider's performance which may have been overlooked:
  - 21.4.2 identifying any aspects or elements of the Employer's performance, or that of other Project Participants, which may have had an adverse effect upon the Provider's performance;
  - 21.4.3 ratifying the basis of assessment and, where applicable, scoring;
  - 21.4.4 identifying any particular aspects or elements of the Provider's and/or the Employer's and/or other Project Participant's performance which could be improved upon; and
  - assessing whether the existing Performance Indicators have proved to be, and 21.4.5 are likely to remain until the next assessment, fair, reasonable and appropriate indicators of the Provider's contribution to progress in achieving the Framework Objectives.
- 21.5 The Employer shall be entitled to disclose its report and discuss the Provider's performance with other Project Participants as it deems necessary and/or appropriate.

#### 22 Framework End Date and termination

- 22.1 No Tasks with a likely programme of longer than 12 months (or such other time as shall be appropriate) shall be instructed in the final 3 months before the Framework End Date.
- 22.2 Either Party may terminate this Framework Agreement by giving the other Party at least one month's prior written notice of termination, provided that neither Party may give such notice at any time during the period of 12 months from the Framework Start Date. Unless such notice is withdrawn before the aforementioned notice period expires, this Framework Agreement will terminate upon expiry of such notice period.
- 22.3 Termination of this Framework Agreement will not in any way affect any Tasks that have been called-off before the Termination Date which the Parties will continue to perform as if the Framework Agreement had never been entered into.
- 22.4 Termination of this Framework Agreement will be without prejudice to any rights and/or remedies which may have accrued due to either Party prior to the Termination Date.

#### 23 Settlement of disputes

Should any dispute or difference arise between the Parties under or in relation to this Framework



### Agreement:

- 23.1 where such dispute or difference involves matters which arise under and/or relate to any Tasks, such dispute or difference shall be resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution provisions of the relevant Underlying Contract (including, where applicable, the mediation, adjudication, arbitration and/or litigation provisions of such contract);
- 23.2 where the dispute or difference involves matters which arise under and/or relate to more than one Task the Parties shall be at liberty to agree that the dispute or difference shall be resolved together in accordance with the dispute resolution provisions of the Underlying Contract under which the Tasks were called-off (including, where applicable, the mediation, adjudication, arbitration and/or litigation provisions of such contract);
- 23.3 where the dispute or difference relates solely to this Framework Agreement and does not involve matters which arise under and/or relate to any Tasks then the dispute or difference shall be resolved in accordance with clauses 24 to 27, as applicable.

#### 24 Mediation

- 24.1 Subject to clause 25, where a dispute or difference arises which relates solely to this Framework Agreement then either Party may suggest to the other that the dispute or difference be resolved by way of mediation and, upon being requested so to do, the other Party shall, within 7 days, indicate whether or not it consents to such mediation.
- The mediator or method of selecting the mediator shall be a matter for agreement between 24.2 the Parties and the aim of any mediation conducted shall be a consensual but binding settlement of the dispute or difference in question.

#### 25 Adjudication

Where and to the extent clause 23.3 provides that a given dispute or difference should be resolved in accordance with clauses 24 to 27 of this Framework Agreement, either Party may at any time refer such dispute or difference to adjudication in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme except for the purposes of the Scheme the Adjudicator shall be the person (if any) and the nominating body shall be that stated in the Framework Particulars.

#### 26 Arbitration

- Where Arbitration applies<sup>[3]</sup> then, subject to clauses 25 and 26.2, where and to the extent 26.1 clause 23.3 provides that a given dispute or difference should be resolved in accordance with clauses 24 to 27 of this Framework Agreement, either Party may at any time refer such dispute or difference to arbitration in accordance with the provisions of the JCT 2024 edition of the Construction Industry Model Arbitration Rules. The Arbitrator shall be an individual agreed by the Parties within 14 days of the date of service of the notice of arbitration or, in the absence of agreement within that period, appointed on the application of either Party in accordance with Rule 2.3 by the person named in the Framework Particulars.
- 26.2 Any challenges to and/or enforcement of awards made by Adjudicators will be dealt with by way of legal proceedings, not by way of arbitration.

#### 27 Legal proceedings

Subject to clause 25 and (where it applies) to clause 26, where and to the extent clause 23.3 provides that a given dispute or difference should be resolved in accordance with clauses 24 to 27 of this Framework Agreement, either Party may at any time commence legal proceedings in respect of such dispute or difference.

#### 28 Applicable law and jurisdiction

This Framework Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of England and the English courts shall have jurisdiction over any dispute or difference that may arise. [4]

Where the Parties do not wish the law applicable to this Framework Agreement to be the law of England appropriate [4] amendments should be made.



<sup>[3]</sup> See the Framework Particulars as to whether Arbitration applies.

# Framework Particulars

Note: An asterisk \* indicates where selection has been or should have been made.

#### 3.1

#### Tasks

(Insert details of Tasks covered by this Framework Agreement.)[5]

The scope of works shall be for undertaking a programme of domestic boiler replacements in its residential housing stock and other owned buildings across the district.

The scope of the works shall include:

Site design survey

Materials procurement and supply chain Customer (tenant) liaison

Programme planning with the Council's Contract Administrator (CA) Removal and recycling of existing boiler and associated fittings Install new boiler to NFDC programme of works

Install new associated fittings as required and instructed by NFDC Maintain a clean and tidy site in accordance with Health & Safety file Provide handover to customer (tenant)

Provision of all mandatory certification documentation related to each property

Any other works appertaining to the boiler replacement and as per the Appendix B Outcome Specification within Annex 5, as directed by the Contract Administrator."

## 4.1

Some or all of the Tasks the Employer has undertaken to call-off to be carried out by the Provider[6] (Insert details where the Employer has guaranteed to allocate a certain or minimum amount or value of Tasks to the Provider during the Framework Term.)[5]

> Tasks awarded under the Underlying Contract will be strictly based upon the Employers operational demand and available budget funds.

> General information: This Framework Agreement and specified Underlying Contract are executed under hand at the framework commencement by both parties covering the entire 4 year framework timeline. Any call-of orders shall be subject to the Underlying Contract.

> Scope: This Framework Agreement covers "Tasks" for the duration of the framework term as set out in this clause 4.1 Please see the outcome specification (Annex 5) attached for more details.

> Scheduling of Tasks: The Tasks will be allocated to the framework Provider using a 12 month rolling programme of Tasks ("the Rolling Schedule"). The Employer and the framework Provider will regularly review the projected work plan to ensure capacity can be forecasted and matched to the Employer's demand.

> The 12 month Rolling Schedule will have a "fixed" period of Tasks (covering the 1st 6 months) and a "flexible" period (for 2nd 6 months). The schedule will be updated quarterly in contract review meetings to ensure the framework Provider is provided with regular work forecasts so as to best plan and organise capacity and resources.

> The Rolling Schedule will effectively become the master schedule of Tasks in confirming the fixed Task programme, providing Task address, contact details of occupier or site liaison officer, special instructions.

> Pricing: The pricing mechanism will be as per the menu price as submitted by the awarded Provider at tender stage, so that each Task on the fixed schedule can be easily and quickly priced. The Provider will be able to check and validate the menu price for each Task (an address etc.) to ensure the correct menu price has been applied.

- [5] Continue on further sheets if necessary, which should be signed or initialled by or on behalf of each Party and then be annexed to this Framework Agreement.
- [6] Do not complete where the Employer does not give such a guarantee.



212644704

Enquiry Form (See Annex 1):

The Employers Contract Administrator will on a quarterly basis use the Rolling Schedule to initiate an "Enquiry Form" to the Provider for the fixed Tasks programme. The Provider will survey the sites listed in the Enquiry to confirm the menu price for each site/Task.

The Cost for each site/Task will be calculated using the standard menu pricing schedule & SOR costs as per the framework Providers tendered rates.

The Employer's Contract Administrator will check and validate the Enquiry response for correctness (including any clarifications with the Provider) and raise an "Order Form" to confirm acceptance of the enquiry.

Order Form (See Annex 2):

All Tasks carried out by the framework Provider under the Order Form will be subject to the terms and conditions of this JCT framework 2024 and the Underlying Contract. The Order Form will act as the Employers instruction to the framework Provider to proceed with the Task(s) at the agreed cost and timeline. The Order Form will be signed under hand by both parties prior to any Task(s) being commenced and be subject to the Underlying Contract.

Purchase Order:

The Employer will provide an official Purchase Order number to the Provider to be cross referenced to Orders issued under the 12 month rolling schedule. This will allow the Provider to submit invoices to be processed for payment as set out below.

Note: Other ad-hoc special projects (e.g. non Housing projects or those subject to a separate Quotation exercise) will be subject to separate Purchase Order(s) from the relevant Employer service. Contract Management:

The framework Provider will be required to provide a competent site manager in order to conduct the Tasks efficiently in order to meet the timescale and programme. A named person will be required to provide a tenant liaison service to communicate effectively with the residents keeping them informed on all aspects of Task programme and to deal with their queries/complaints.

Plot Practical Completion Certificate (Annex 4):

This certificate is issued by the Employers Contract Administrator to confirm the Tasks at a specific plot of multiple plots (addresses) have been completed to the Employers specification. It also sets out the final sums (based on menu price from Order Form plus any agreed added schedule of rate items or agreed variations). The Plot Practical Completion Certificate enables the Provider to submit an

Invoicing the Employer: Invoices submitted by the Provider must quote the Plot Practical Completion Certificate reference and the Employers official "Purchase Order".

Note: Any expenditure by the Employer under the Framework Agreement or specified Underlying Contract will only be sanctioned by the issue of an "Order Form" as set out in Annex 2.

## 4.4

Enquiry response time

30 days

## 4.5

**Pricing Documents** 

consist of

Please see Appendix C3 - Pricing Response From v.3.00 from the Tender Responses which is set out at Annex 3 set out at Annex 3[7]

# 4.7.2

**Underlying Contracts** (List principal JCT contracts.)[8]

- [7] The Pricing Documents must set out a clear mechanism for the price to be calculated.
- [8] More than one form of Underlying Contract can be used under the Framework Agreement provided that, where the Framework Agreement has been entered into following a tender process under the Procurement Act, the forms of Underlying Contract that will be used are identified in the tender documents and it is made clear which form will apply to which Tasks.



The underlying contract terms governing the delivery of the specified Tasks will be JCT Minor Works Contract 2024.

The framework contractor shall have deemed to have read and made themselves familiar with the provisions of these forms of contract. The Underlying Contract will be signed at Framework commencement by both parties on the basis that: any expenditure by the Employer under the Underlying Contract will only be sanctioned by the issue of an "Order Form" (as set out in Annex 2) and the Provider acknowledging that any call-off is subject to the terms of the Underlying Contract.

## 8.1

## Framework Start Date

15th September 2025

### 21

## Performance Indicators[9]

Clause 21

applies

Performance Indicators

- are as follows
  - 1. Quality & Programme
  - 2. **Customer Feedback**
- 3. Contract management
- 4. Installations passing QC
- Variations raised

Performance indicators are set out in Annex 5 -Appendix B (Outcome Specification)

## 22.1

# Framework End Date[10]

15th September 2029 or the Termination Date, whichever is the earlier

## 25

## Adjudication[11]

Nominating body – where no Adjudicator is named or where the named Adjudicator is unwilling or unable to act (whenever that is established) the nominating body is

(Delete all but one of the asterisked choices. If the body is to be other than one of those listed, insert the name here.) (If a body has not been selected from those listed below or another body chosen and inserted, the nominating body shall be one of the bodies listed below selected by the Party requiring the reference to adjudication.)

\* The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

## 26

## Arbitration

(If neither entry is deleted, clause 26 does not apply. If disputes and differences are to be determined by arbitration and not

- [9] See the Framework Agreement Guide.
- [10] See the Framework Agreement Guide.
- [11] The Parties should either name the Adjudicator and select the nominating body or, alternatively, select only the nominating body. The Adjudication Agreement (Adj) and the Adjudication Agreement (Named Adjudicator) (Adj/N) have been prepared by JCT for use when appointing an Adjudicator.



by legal proceedings it must be stated that Arbitration applies.)

Arbitration

\* applies

Appointor of Arbitrator (and of any replacement) - the appointor is

(Delete all but one of the asterisked choices. If the body is to be other than one of those listed, insert the name here.) (If no body is selected from those listed below or another body chosen and inserted, the appointor shall be the President or a Vice-President of the body listed below selected by the Party serving the first notice of arbitration under clause 26. For any subsequently served notice of arbitration from any Party under clause 26, the appointor shall be the President or a Vice-President of the same body that was selected for the first notice of arbitration.)

President or a Vice-President:

\* The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

## List of Annexes

- 1 Enquiry
- 2 Order
- 3 Pricing Documents
- 4 Plot Property Completion Certificate
- 5 eITT and Tender Response Form

# **Attestation**

## Note on Execution

This Framework Agreement should be executed by both the Employer and the Provider either under hand or as a deed.

#### **Execution under hand**

If this Framework Agreement is to be executed under hand, use the form set out on the following page. Each Party or its authorised representative should sign where indicated in the presence of a witness who should then sign and set out their name and address.

## **Execution as a Deed**

If this Framework Agreement is to be executed as a deed, each Party should use the relevant form marked 'Execution as a Deed' in accordance with the notes provided.

## Other forms of Attestation

In cases where the forms of attestation set out are not appropriate, e.g. in the case of certain housing associations and partnerships or if a Party wishes an attorney to execute this Framework Agreement on its behalf, the appropriate form(s) may be inserted in the vacant space opposite and/or below.

#### Electronic execution

In 2019, the Law Commission published a report on "Electronic execution of documents" to assist in clarifying the legal status of electronic signatures. It reached the general conclusion that: "An electronic signature is capable in law of being used to validly execute a document (including a deed) provided that (i) the person signing the document intends to authenticate the document and (ii) any formalities relating to execution of that document are satisfied."[12] The practice of electronic execution has been growing in recent years and JCT understands that this is now commonplace. E-signature platforms are understood to be widely available, but JCT does not endorse any particular software company.

# Execution under hand

# As witness

the hands of the Parties or their duly authorised representatives

Signed by or on behalf of the Employer

paul j thomas
paul j thomas (Sep 19, 2025 15:39:19 GMT+1)

Signed by or on behalf of the Provider

in the presence of:

witness' signature

witness's name

witness's address

Annex 1	Enquiry
	From: Employer
	To: Provider
	Date:
	Dear Sirs
	Tasks to be carried out under Framework Agreement between us dated
	("the Framework Agreement")
	We refer to the Framework Agreement. Where the context so allows, terms used in this Enquiry shall bear the same meaning as in the Framework Agreement.
	In accordance with the Framework Agreement we enclose the following details relating to specific Tasks that we are considering calling-off: <sup>[13]</sup>
	We also enclose draft Recitals, Articles and Contract Particulars which will form part of the Underlying Contract setting out the specific details applicable to the relevant Tasks, which should be read in conjunction with the Underlying Contract.

Please let us have your proposals for the pricing of these Tasks in accordance with the Pricing Documents and your proposals for the completion of the draft Recitals, Articles and Contract Particulars.

Yours faithfully

<sup>[13]</sup> State the document(s) which describe the Tasks to be carried out, e.g. Contract Drawings, Bills of Quantities, Specification, Work Schedules etc.

Framework Agreement, 2024 Edition - Domestic Boiler Replacements

# **Draft Recitals, Articles and Contract Particulars**

[Attach relevant documents to form the Recitals, Articles and Contract Particulars.]

Annex 2	Order
	From: Employer
	To: Provider
	Date:
	Dear Sirs
	Tasks to be carried out under Framework Agreement between us dated
	("the Framework Agreement")
	Description of Tasks being called-off:
	We refer to the Framework Agreement. Where the context so allows, terms used in the Enquiry and this Order shall bear the same meaning as in the Framework Agreement.
	Following your response to our Enquiry, please carry out the Tasks described above in accordance with this Order.
	The Tasks will encompass the works/services set out in the enclosed Recitals, Articles and Contract Particulars to the Underlying Contract and be carried out in accordance with the Underlying Contract and the Framework Agreement. The terms of the Underlying Contract shall apply to the Tasks instructed by this Order as if a separate Underlying Contract executed under hand/as a deed <sup>[14]</sup> had been entered into between us in respect of them.
	This Order is prepared in duplicate. Please execute the duplicate of this Order executed under hand/as a deed <sup>[14]</sup> as an acknowledgement of its terms and return it to us before commencing the Tasks described above.
	Yours faithfully
	On copy only
	We acknowledge the terms of this Order
	[Execution provisions]

### Annex 3 **Pricing Documents**

[Attach the Pricing Documents referred to in the Framework Particulars.]



All parties must rely exclusively upon their own skill and judgment or upon those of their advisers when using this document and neither Thomson Reuters (Professional) UK Limited nor its associated companies assume any liability to any user or any third party in connection with such use.

SWEET & MAXWELL





This document has changed from the published comparison document provided.

# MW 2024 Minor Works Building Contract 2024

2024

MINOR WORKS BUILDING CONTRACT

## Minor Works Building Contract (MW)

## Appropriate:

- where the work involved is simple in character;
- where the work is designed by or on behalf of the Employer;
- where the Employer is to provide drawings and/or a specification and/or work schedules to define adequately the quantity and quality of the work; and
- where an Architect/Contract Administrator is to administer the conditions.

#### Can be used:

by both private and local authority employers.

#### Not suitable:

- where bills of quantities are required;
- where provisions are required to govern work carried out by named specialists;
- where detailed control procedures are needed including (but not limited to) detailed provisions governing extensions of time and loss and expense;
- where the Contractor is to design discrete part(s) of the works, even though all the other criteria are met consider using the Minor Works Building Contract with contractor's design (MWD).

This contract document is created using JCT's online service. Changes or choices made by the contract creator mean that this document differs from the original JCT text. A comparison document, showing all the changes from the original JCT text, is available and must be provided with the contract by the contract creator to all parties to the contract under the terms and conditions of the use of this service. Please note that the finalised version of a contract document that has been output from this service includes the comparison document automatically. Reports of failure to observe the terms and conditions of the use of this service may result in this service being suspended.

This document has been produced electronically by Rapidocs software and is derived from the published printed version (May 2024). Its use is subject to the software licence agreement. Thomson Reuters and the Thomson Reuters Logo are trademarks of Thomson Reuters. Sweet & Maxwell ® is a registered trademark of Thomson Reuters (Professional) UK Limited.

For details of 2024 Edition changes, see the Guidance Notes and the Tracked Change Document.

www.jctltd.co.uk

# **Contents**

	Agreement	1
	Recitals	2
	Articles	4
1	Contractor's obligations	7
2	Contract Sum	
3	Collaborative working	
4	Architect/Contract Administrator	
5	CDM Regulations – Principal Designer and Principal Contractor	
6	Building Regulations – Principal Designer and Principal Contractor	
7	Adjudication	
8	Arbitration	
9	Legal proceedings	
	Contract Particulars	6
	Attestation	11
	Conditions	42
	Conditions	13
Section 1	Definitions and Interpretation	13
1.1	Definitions  The interpretation is a second or	13
1.2	Agreement etc. to be read as a whole	
1.3	Headings, references to persons, legislation etc.	
1.4	Reckoning periods of days	
1.5	Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999	
1.6	Notices and other communications	
1.7	Consents and approvals	
1.8	Applicable law	
Section 2	Carrying out the Works	17
2.1	Contractor's obligations	
2.2	Commencement and completion	
2.3	Architect/Contract Administrator's duties	
2.4	Correction of inconsistencies	
2.5	Divergences from Statutory Requirements	
2.6	Fees or charges legally demandable	
2.7	Extension of time	
2.8 2.9	Damages for non-completion Practical completion	
2.10	Defects	
2.11	Certificate of making good	
Section 3	Control of the Works	19
3.1	Assignment	
3.2	Person-in-charge	
3.3	Sub-contracting	
3.4	Architect/Contract Administrator's instructions	
3.5	Non-compliance with instructions	
3.6	Variations	
3.7 3.8	Provisional Sums Exclusion from the Works	
3.9	CDM Regulations and Part 2A of the Building Regulations	
Section 4	Payment	21
4.1	VAT	
4.2	Construction Industry Scheme (CIS)	

i

4.3	Interim payments – dates and certificates	
4.4	Interim payments – calculation of sums due	
4.5	Contractor's applications and payment notices	
4.6	Payments – amount and notices	
4.7	Failure to pay amount due	
4.8	Contractor's right of suspension	
4.9 4.10	Final certificate and final payment Fixed price and fluctuations provisions	
Section 5	Injury, Damage and Insurance	24
5.1	Contractor's liability – personal injury or death	
5.2	Contractor's liability – loss, injury or damage to property	
5.3	Contractor's insurance of its liability	
5.4	Joint Names Insurance of the Works by Contractor	
5.5	Joint Names Insurance of the Works and existing structures by Employer	
5.6	Insurance of the Works and existing structures by other means	
5.7	Evidence of insurance	
5.8	Loss or damage – insurance claims and reinstatement	
5.9	Loss or damage to existing structures – right of termination	
Section 6	Termination	27
6.1	Meaning of insolvency	
6.2	Notices under section 6	
6.3	Other rights, reinstatement	
6.4	Default by Contractor	
6.5	Insolvency of Contractor	
6.6	Corruption and regulation 73(1)(b) of the PC Regulations	
6.7	Consequences of termination under clauses 6.4 to 6.6	
6.8	Default by Employer	
6.9	Insolvency of Employer	
6.10	Termination by either Party and regulation 73(1)(a) of the PC Regulations	
6.11	Consequences of termination under clauses 6.8 to 6.10	
6.12	Termination Payment – final date, notices and amount	
Section 7	Settlement of Disputes	32
7.1	Notification and negotiation of disputes	
7.2	Mediation	
7.3	Adjudication	
7.4	Arbitration	
	Schedules	33
Schedule 1	Arbitration	33
Schedule 2	Supplemental Provisions	35
	Guidance Notes	37

212646704

# **Agreement**

Th	is	A	ar	ee	m	e	nt
						_	

<sub>20</sub> 25 22 August is made the

# **Between**

# The Employer

New Forest District Council

of Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, SO43 7PA

# And

# The Contractor

A P Faulkner Heating Limited

Place of incorporation: England and Wales

(Company No. 804474)[1]

whose registered office is at Unit K, Bridge Farm Reading Road, Arborfield, Reading, RG2 9HT

Where the Employer or Contractor is neither a company incorporated under the Companies Acts nor a company registered under the laws [1] of another country, delete the references to Company number and registered office. In the case of a company incorporated outside England and Wales, particulars of its place of incorporation should be inserted immediately before its Company number.



# Recitals

## Whereas

## **First**

the Employer wishes to have the following work carried out<sup>[2]</sup>:

Replacement of Domestic Gas Boilers as set out in eITT and Tender Response for the provision of a Framework Agreement for Domestic Boiler Replacements\_v1.00 which is set out in Annex 5 of the governing Framework Agreement

at

Various properties throughout the New Forest District and as and when "called off by the Employer under the process described in Clause 4.1 of the governing Framework Agreement to which this Underlying Contract relates ('the Works')

under the direction of the Architect/Contract Administrator referred to in Article 4;

### Second

the Employer has had the following documents prepared which show and describe the work to be done

Appendix B\_Outcome Specification\_v1.00 which is set out in Annex 5 of the governing Framework Agreement

which for identification have been signed or initialled by or on behalf of each Party; those documents together with this Agreement, the Conditions and, if applicable, a Schedule of Rates as referred to in the Third Recital (collectively 'the Contract Documents')<sup>[3]</sup> are annexed to this Agreement<sup>[4]</sup>;

## **Third**

The Contractor has supplied the Employer with a copy of the priced Contract Specification

refer to Appendix C3 - Pricing Response From v.3.00 from the Tender Responses which is set out in Annex 3 of the governing Framework Agreement

## Fourth

for the purposes of the Construction Industry Scheme (CIS) under the Finance Act 2004, the status of the Employer is, as at the Base Date, that stated in the Contract Particulars;

# Fifth

for the purposes of the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 (the 'CDM Regulations') the status of the project that comprises or includes the Works is stated in the Contract Particulars:

- [2] State nature and location of intended works.
- [3] It is envisaged that in those cases where there is an applicable BIM or other communications protocol this will be included within one of the Contract Documents identified in the Second Recital.
- [4] Where a Contract Document has been priced by the Contractor it is that version of the document that should be annexed.



212646704 Minor Works Building Contract, 2024 Edition - Domestic Boiler Replacements

## Sixth

where so stated in the Contract Particulars, this Contract is supplemented by the Framework Agreement identified in those particulars;

## Seventh

whether any of Supplemental Provisions 1 to 3 apply is stated in the Contract Particulars;

# **Articles**

# Now it is hereby agreed as follows

#### Article 1 Contractor's obligations

The Contractor shall carry out and complete the Works in accordance with the Contract Documents.

#### Article 2 Contract Sum

The Employer will pay the Contractor at the times and in the manner specified in the Conditions

The Contract Sum is the sum agreed between the parties in the Enquiry and Order From activity, as set out in Appendix C3 - Pricing Response From v.3.00 from the Tender Responses, Annex 3 of the governing Framework Agreement, plus any variations instructed by the Contract Administrator.

or such other sum as becomes payable under this Contract.

#### Article 3 Collaborative working

The Parties shall work with each other and with other project team members in a co-operative and collaborative manner, in good faith and in a spirit of trust and respect. To that end, each shall support collaborative behaviour and address behaviour which is not collaborative.

#### Article 4 Architect/Contract Administrator

For the purposes of this Contract the Architect/Contract Administrator<sup>[5]</sup> is

Ben Close

of

Housing Maintenance, New Forest District Council, Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, SO43 7PA

or, if it ceases to be the Architect/Contract Administrator, such other person as the Employer nominates (such nomination to be made within 14 days of the cessation). No replacement appointee as Architect and/or Contract Administrator shall be entitled to disregard or overrule any certificate, opinion, decision, approval or instruction given by any predecessor in that post, save to the extent that that predecessor if still in the post would then have had power under this Contract to do so.

#### Article 5 CDM Regulations – Principal Designer and Principal Contractor

For the purposes of the CDM Regulations:

the Principal Designer is

A P Faulkner Heating Limited

4 of 42



<sup>[5]</sup> Unless the person appointed by or under Article 4 is entitled to use the title 'Architect' under the Architects Act 1997, the term 'Architect' shall so long as that person holds that post be deemed deleted throughout this Contract. Any appointee as Contract Administrator should be suitably experienced for the role. Irrespective of experience or qualifications, the Employer should not at any time appoint itself to the role without the Contractor's prior agreement.

of

Unit K, Bridge Farm Reading Road, Arborfield, Reading, RG2 9HT

or such replacement as the Employer at any time appoints to fulfil that role;

the Principal Contractor is the Contractor or such replacement as the Employer at any time appoints to fulfil that role.

#### Article 6 **Building Regulations – Principal Designer and Principal Contractor**

A P Faulkner Heating Limited

the Principal Contractor is the Contractor or such replacement as the Employer at any time appoints to fulfil that role.

#### Article 7 **Adjudication**

If any dispute or difference arises under this Contract either Party may refer it to adjudication in accordance with clause 7.3.[6]

#### Arbitration Article 8

Where Article 8 applies<sup>[7]</sup>, then, subject to Article 7 and the exceptions set out below, any dispute or difference between the Parties of any kind whatsoever arising out of or in connection with this Contract shall be referred to arbitration in accordance with Schedule 1 and the JCT 2024 edition of the Construction Industry Model Arbitration Rules (CIMAR)<sup>[8]</sup>. The exceptions to this Article 8 are:

- any disputes or differences arising under or in respect of the Construction Industry Scheme or VAT, to the extent that legislation provides another method of resolving such disputes or differences; and
- any disputes or differences in connection with the enforcement of any decision of an Adjudicator.

#### Article 9 Legal proceedings[7]

Subject to Article 7 and (where it applies) to Article 8, the English courts shall have jurisdiction over any dispute or difference between the Parties which arises out of or in connection with this Contract.

<sup>[6]</sup> As to adjudication in cases where the Employer is a residential occupier within the meaning of section 106 of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, see the Guidance Notes.

<sup>[7]</sup> If it is intended, subject to the right of adjudication and exceptions stated in Article 8, that disputes or differences should be determined by arbitration and not by legal proceedings, the Contract Particulars must state that the arbitration provisions of Article 8 and Schedule 1 apply and the words "do not apply" must be deleted. If the Parties wish any dispute or difference to be determined by the courts of another jurisdiction the appropriate amendment should be made to Article 9 (see also clause 1.8).

<sup>[8]</sup> See the Guidance Notes.

# **Contract Particulars**

Note: An asterisk \* indicates where selection has been or should have been made.

Fourth Recital and the JCT Fluctuations Option (paragraphs 1.1, 1.2, 1.5, 1.6, 2.1 and 2.2)

Base Date

The last working day prior to the commencement date

### Fourth Recital and clause 4.2

Construction Industry Scheme (CIS)

Employer at the Base Date \* is a 'contractor' for the purposes of the CIS

## Fifth Recital

CDM Regulations[9]

the project \* is notifiable

## Sixth Recital

Framework Agreement (if applicable) (State date, title and parties.)

> JCT Framework Agreement 2024 for the replacement of Domestic Boilers between New Forest District Council and TBC commencing on TBC

## Seventh Recital and Schedule 2

Supplemental Provisions[10]

(Where neither entry against one of Supplemental Provisions 1 to 3 below is deleted, that Supplemental Provision applies.)

Supplemental Provision 1: Health and safety

applies

Supplemental Provision 2: Cost savings and value improvements

applies

Supplemental Provision 3: Performance Indicators and monitoring

\* applies

- [9] Under the CDM Regulations a project is notifiable if the construction work on a construction site is scheduled either to last longer than 30 working days and have more than 20 workers working simultaneously at any point in the project or to exceed 500 person days.
- Supplemental Provision 4 (Transparency) applies only where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority or other body to which the [10] Freedom of Information Act 2000 applies; Supplemental Provision 5 (The Public Contracts Regulations 2015) applies only where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority and this Contract is subject to the PC Regulations.



#### Article 8

#### Arbitration

(If neither entry is deleted, Article 8 and Schedule 1 do not apply. If disputes and differences are to be determined by arbitration and not by legal proceedings, it must be stated that Article 8 and Schedule 1 apply.)[11]

> Article 8 and Schedule 1 (Arbitration) \* apply

### 1.6.2

Addresses for service of notices by the Parties

(If a Party's address is not stated, it shall, subject to clause 1.6.2, be that shown at the commencement of the Agreement.)

**Employer** 

Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, SO43 7PA

Unit K, Bridge Farm Reading Road, Arborfield, Reading, RG2 9HT

The respective email addresses for the Parties are

Employer's email

Ben.Close@nfdc.gov.uk

Contractor's email

melf@faulkner-heating.co.uk

or, subject to clause 1.6.2, such other email address as each Party may notify to the other from time to time

## 2.2

Works commencement date

15th September 2025

Date for Completion

15th September 2029

or such later date for completion as is fixed under clause 2.7

## 2.8

Liquidated damages

at the rate of

£0.00 per Day[12]

## 2.10

Rectification Period

(The period is 3 months unless a different period is stated.)

- [11] On factors to be taken into account by the Parties in considering whether disputes are to be determined by arbitration or by legal proceedings, see the Guidance Notes. See also footnote [7].
- [12] Insert 'day', 'week' or other period.



Minor Works Building Contract, 2024 Edition - Domestic Boiler Replacements

Twelve months[13] from the date of practical completion

### 4.3

Interim payments – Interim Valuation Dates[14]

(Unless otherwise stated, the first Interim Valuation Date is one month after the Works commencement date specified in these Particulars (against the reference to clause 2.2) and thereafter at monthly intervals.)

The first Interim Valuation Date is

Not applicable, the provider will invoice for complete works only upon issues of the employers plot practical completion certificate and thereafter at intervals of

The same date in each month or the nearest business day in each month

## 4.4

Payments due prior to practical completion – percentage of the total value of work etc. (The percentage is 95 per cent unless a different rate is stated.)

0 per cent[13]

Payments becoming due on or after practical completion – percentage of the total amount to be paid to the Contractor (The percentage is 97½ per cent unless a different rate is stated.)

100 per cent[13]

## 4.4 and 4.9

Fluctuations provision[15]

(Unless another provision or entry is selected, the JCT Fluctuations Option applies. References in this Contract to the JCT Fluctuations Option (or any provision as set out in such Option) are references to the JCT 2024 edition of that Option.)

\* no fluctuations provision applies

## 4.9.1

Supply of documentation for computation of amount to be finally certified (The period is 3 months unless a different period is stated.)

> One months[13] from the date of practical completion

## 5.3

Contractor's Public Liability insurance: injury to persons or property - the required level of cover is not less than

£20,000,000

for any one occurrence or series of occurrences arising out of one event

- [13] An insertion is needed here only if the default position is not to apply. If no retention is required, insert '100' in the percentage entries for clause 4.4.
- The first Interim Valuation Date should not be more than one month after the Works commencement date and the intervals between Interim [14] Valuation Dates should not be more than one month.
- [15] Unless the fluctuations provision is to be the JCT Fluctuations Option, delete all but one of the asterisked choices. The printed text of the JCT Fluctuations Option is no longer included in JCT contract documents but continues to be available on the JCT website www.jctltd.co.uk. If an alternative fluctuation is to be used, the document(s) in which it is contained should be identified here.



# 5.4, 5.5 and 5.6

Insurance of the Works etc. – alternative provisions[16]

\* Clause 5.5 (Works and existing structures insurance by Employer in Joint Names) applies

### 5.4 and 5.5

Percentage to cover professional fees (If no other percentage is stated, it shall be 15 per cent.)

15 per cent

# 6.2.3.2

Service of notices by email

(If neither entry is deleted or an email address for each Party is not specified, clause 6.2.3.2 shall not apply.)

Clause 6.2.3.2

\* applies

Employer's email

Ben.Close@nfdc.gov.uk

Contractor's email

melf@faulkner-heating.co.uk

### 7.1

Notification and negotiation of disputes

The respective nominees of the Parties are

Employer's nominee

Richard Knott, Strategic Director, Housing & Communities

Contractor's nominee

Mel Faulkner, Commercial and Financial Director

or such replacement as each Party may notify to the other from time to time

### 7.3

Adjudication[17]

Nominating body - where no Adjudicator is named or where the named Adjudicator is unwilling or unable to act (whenever that is established) the nominating body is

(Delete all but one of the asterisked choices. If the body is to be other than one of those listed, insert the name here.) (If a body has not been selected from those listed below or another body chosen and inserted, the nominating body shall be one of the bodies listed below selected by the Party requiring the reference to adjudication.)

- [16] As to choice of applicable insurance provisions, see the Guidance Notes.
  - Where there are existing structures, it is vital that any prospective Employer in particular any Employer which is a tenant or a domestic homeowner - which is not familiar with clause 5.5 and the possible solutions under clause 5.6, or an appropriate member of the Employer's professional team, should consult the Employer's insurance advisers prior to the tender stage. Any Employer which is a tenant should also consult its insuring landlord prior to that stage.
- [17] The Parties should either name the Adjudicator and select the nominating body or, alternatively, select only the nominating body. The Adjudication Agreement (Adj) and the Adjudication Agreement (Named Adjudicator) (Adj/N) have been prepared by JCT for use when appointing an Adjudicator.



\* The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

# Schedule 1 (paragraph 2.1)

Arbitration<sup>[18]</sup>: appointor of Arbitrator (and of any replacement) – the appointor is (Delete all but one of the asterisked choices. If the body is to be other than one of those listed, insert the name here.) (If no body is selected from those listed below or another body chosen and inserted, the appointor shall be the President or a Vice-President of the body listed below selected by the Party serving the first notice of arbitration under paragraph 2 of Schedule 1. For any subsequently served notice of arbitration from any Party under paragraph 2 of Schedule 1, the appointor shall be the President or a Vice-President of the same body that was selected for the first notice of arbitration.)

President or a Vice-President:

\* The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

# **Attestation**

# Note on Execution

This Agreement should be executed by both the Employer and the Contractor either under hand or as a deed. As to the main factor relevant to that choice, see the Guidance Notes.

### **Execution under hand**

If this Agreement is to be executed under hand, use the form set out on the following page. Each Party or its authorised representative should sign where indicated in the presence of a witness who should then sign and set out their name and address.

# **Execution as a Deed**

If this Agreement is to be executed as a deed, each Party should use the relevant form marked 'Execution as a Deed' in accordance with the notes provided.

### Other forms of Attestation

In cases where the forms of attestation set out are not appropriate, e.g. in the case of certain housing associations and partnerships or if a Party wishes an attorney to execute this Agreement on its behalf, the appropriate form(s) may be inserted in the vacant space opposite and/or below.

### Electronic execution

In 2019, the Law Commission published a report on "Electronic execution of documents" to assist in clarifying the legal status of electronic signatures. It reached the general conclusion that: "An electronic signature is capable in law of being used to validly execute a document (including a deed) provided that (i) the person signing the document intends to authenticate the document and (ii) any formalities relating to execution of that document are satisfied."[19] The practice of electronic execution has been growing in recent years and JCT understands that this is now commonplace. E-signature platforms are understood to be widely available, but JCT does not endorse any particular software company.

# Execution under hand

# As witness

the hands of the Parties

	of their duty authorised representatives	
Signed by or on behalf of the Employer	paul j thomas paul j thomas (Sep 19, 2025 15:39:19 GMT+1)	
in the presence of:	S.Tuffin  STuffin (Sep 27 2025 09:40:19 GMT+1)  witness' signature	
	witness's name	
	witness's address	
Signed by or on behalf of he Contractor	L'Faul.	
in the presence of:	Utaulh	
	witness' signature	
	witness's name	
	witness's address	

# **Conditions**

### Section 1 **Definitions and Interpretation**

#### 1.1 **Definitions**

Unless the context otherwise requires or the Agreement or these Conditions specifically provide otherwise, words and phrases defined in the Agreement shall have the same meanings in these Conditions and the following words and phrases, where they appear in capitalised form in these Conditions, shall have the meanings stated or referred to below:

Agreement: the Agreement to which these Conditions are annexed, including its Recitals, Articles and Contract Particulars.

All Risks Insurance [20]: insurance which provides cover against any physical loss or damage to work executed and Site Materials and against the reasonable cost of the removal and disposal of debris and of any shoring and propping of the Works which results from such physical loss or damage but excluding the cost necessary to repair, replace or rectify:

- property which is defective due to: (a)
  - wear and tear, (i)
  - (ii) obsolescence, or
  - (iii) deterioration, rust or mildew;
- (b) any work executed or any Site Materials lost or damaged as a result of its own defect in design, plan, specification, material or workmanship or any other work executed which is lost or damaged in consequence thereof where such work relied for its support or stability on such work which was defective<sup>[21]</sup>;
- (c) loss or damage caused by or arising from:
  - any consequence of war, invasion, act of foreign enemy, hostilities (whether war be declared or not), civil war, rebellion, revolution, insurrection, military or usurped power, confiscation, commandeering, nationalisation or requisition or loss or destruction of or damage to any property by or under the order of any government de jure or de facto or public, municipal or local authority,
  - disappearance or shortage if such disappearance or shortage is only (ii) revealed when an inventory is made or is not traceable to an identifiable event, or
  - (iii) an Excepted Risk.

Article: an article in the Agreement.

Base Date: the date stated as such date in the Contract Particulars (against the Fourth Recital and the JCT Fluctuations Option).

- [20] The definition of All Risks Insurance defines the risks for which insurance is required. Policies issued by insurers are not standardised and the way in which insurance for those risks is expressed varies.
- [21] In any policy for All Risks Insurance taken out under clause 5.4 or 5.5.2, cover should not be reduced by any exclusion that goes beyond the terms of paragraph (b) in this definition. For example, an exclusion in terms that 'This Policy excludes all loss of or damage to the property insured due to defective design, plan, specification, materials or workmanship' would not be in accordance with the terms of those insurance clauses or of that definition. Wider All Risks cover than that specified may be available, though it is not standard.



**Building Regulations:** the Building Regulations 2010.

Business Day: any day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday or a Public Holiday.

CDM Regulations: the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015.

Conditions: the clauses set out in sections 1 to 7, together with and including the Schedules hereto.

Construction Industry Scheme (or 'CIS'): see the Fourth Recital.

Construction Phase Plan: the plan referred to in regulation 2 of the CDM Regulations, including any updates and revisions.

Contract Particulars: the particulars in the Agreement and there described as such, including the entries made by the Parties.

Contractor's Persons: the Contractor's employees and agents, all other persons employed or engaged on or in connection with the Works or any part of them and any other person properly on the site in connection therewith, excluding the Architect/Contract Administrator, the Employer, Employer's Persons and any Statutory Provider.

Employer's Persons: all persons employed, engaged or authorised by the Employer, excluding the Contractor, Contractor's Persons, the Architect/Contract Administrator and any Statutory Provider.

Excepted Risks: ionising radiations or contamination by radioactivity from any nuclear fuel or from any nuclear waste from the combustion of nuclear fuel, radioactive toxic explosive or other hazardous properties of any explosive nuclear assembly or nuclear component thereof, pressure waves caused by aircraft or other aerial devices travelling at sonic or supersonic speeds.

Interest Rate: a rate 5% per annum above the official bank rate of the Bank of England current at the date that a payment due under this Contract becomes overdue.

Interim Valuation Date: each date as specified by the Contract Particulars (against the reference to clause 4.3).

Joint Names Policy: a policy of insurance which includes the Employer and the Contractor as composite insured and under which the insurers have no right of recourse against any person named as an insured, or recognised as an insured thereunder.

Local or Public Authority: a body that is a 'contracting authority' as defined by the PC Regulations.

Parties: the Employer and the Contractor together.

Party: either the Employer or the Contractor.

PC Regulations: the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

Principal Contractor: the Contractor or other contractor named in Article 5 or Article 6 or any successor appointed by the Employer.

Principal Designer: the Architect/Contract Administrator or other person named in Article 5 or Article 6 or any successor appointed by the Employer.

Provisional Sum: includes a sum provided for work that the Employer may or may not decide to have carried out, or which cannot be accurately specified in the Contract Documents.

Public Holiday: Christmas Day, Good Friday or a day which under the Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971 is a bank holiday. [22]

Recitals: the recitals in the Agreement.

Rectification Period: the period stated as such period in the Contract Particulars (against the reference to clause 2.10).

Scheme: Part 1 of the Schedule to The Scheme for Construction Contracts (England and Wales) Regulations 1998.

Site Materials: all unfixed materials and goods delivered to and placed on or adjacent to the Works

[22] Amend as necessary if different Public Holidays are applicable.



which are intended for incorporation therein.

Specified Perils: fire, lightning, explosion, storm, flood, escape of water from any water tank, apparatus or pipe, earthquake, aircraft and other aerial devices or articles dropped therefrom, riot and civil commotion, but excluding Excepted Risks.

Statutory Provider: any person executing work solely in pursuance of its statutory obligations, including any persons employed, engaged or authorised by such person upon or in connection with that work.

Statutory Requirements: any statute, statutory instrument, regulation, rule or order made under any statute or directive having the force of law which affects the Works or performance of any obligations under this Contract and any regulation or bye-law of any person which has any jurisdiction with regard to the Works or with whose systems the Works are, or are to be, connected.

Termination Payment: a payment to which clauses 6.7.5, 6.11.4 and 6.12 refer.

VAT: Value Added Tax.

Works Insurance Policy: the Joint Names Policy or policies covering the Works and Site Materials to be effected and maintained under whichever of clauses 5.4, 5.5 and 5.6 applies.

#### 1.2 Agreement etc. to be read as a whole

The Agreement and these Conditions are to be read as a whole. Nothing contained in the Contract Drawings, the Contract Specification or the Work Schedules, nor anything in any Framework Agreement, shall override or modify the Agreement or these Conditions.

#### 1.3 Headings, references to persons, legislation etc.

In the Agreement and these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires:

- 1.3.1 the headings, notes and footnotes are included for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Contract;
- 1.3.2 the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- 1.3.3 a gender includes any other gender;
- 1.3.4 a reference to a 'person' includes any individual, firm, partnership, company and any other body corporate; and
- 1.3.5 a reference to a statute, statutory instrument or other subordinate legislation ('legislation') is to such legislation as amended and in force from time to time, including any legislation which re-enacts or consolidates it, with or without modification, and including corresponding legislation in any other relevant part of the United Kingdom.

#### 1.4 Reckoning periods of days

Where under this Contract an act is required to be done within a specified period of days after or from a specified date, the period shall begin immediately after that date. Where the period would include a day which is a Public Holiday that day shall be excluded.

#### 1.5 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract, nothing in this Contract confers or is intended to confer any right to enforce any of its terms on any person which is not a party to it.

#### 1.6 Notices and other communications

- 1.6.1 Each notice, instruction or other communication referred to in the Agreement or these Conditions shall be in writing.
- 1.6.2 Unless otherwise stated in these Conditions, any notice or other communication under this Contract may be given to or served on the recipient by any effective means and shall be duly given or served if:
  - 1.6.2.1 delivered by hand or sent by pre-paid post to the recipient's address stated in the Contract Particulars against clause 1.6.2, or to such other address as the recipient may from time to time notify to the sender, or if no such address is then

MW 2024 17/09/2025 13:18 UTC 212646704

> current, the recipient's last known principal business address or (where a body corporate) its registered or principal office; or

1.6.2.2 sent by email to the recipient's email address stated in the Contract Particulars against clause 1.6.2, or to such other email address as the recipient may from time to time notify to the sender.

#### 1.7 Consents and approvals

- 1.7.1 Where consent or approval of either Party or the Architect/Contract Administrator is expressly required under these Conditions and is requested, then, except as provided in clause 1.7.2, such consent or approval shall not be unreasonably delayed or withheld.
- 1.7.2 In the following cases the giving of consent or approval shall be at the sole discretion of the Party from which it is sought and clause 1.7.1 shall not apply, namely the Employer's consent under clause 2.10 and either Party's consent under clause 3.1.

#### 1.8 Applicable law

This Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of England. [23]

[23] Where the Parties do not wish the law applicable to this Contract to be the law of England appropriate amendments should be made.

### Section 2 Carrying out the Works

#### 2.1 Contractor's obligations

- 2.1.1 The Contractor shall carry out and complete the Works in a proper and workmanlike manner and in compliance with the Contract Documents, the Construction Phase Plan and Statutory Requirements, and shall give all notices required by the Statutory Requirements.
- 2.1.2 The Contractor is encouraged to suggest economically viable amendments to the Works which, if instructed as a variation under clause 3.6.1, may result in an improvement in environmental performance and sustainability in the carrying out of the Works or of the completed Works and a reduction in environmental impact, provided that no such instruction shall impose on the Contractor obligations in relation to design under this Contract.
- 2.1.3 The Contractor shall provide to the Employer all information that the Employer reasonably requests regarding the environmental impact of the supply and use of materials and goods which the Contractor selects.
- 2.1.4 Insofar as the quality of materials or standards of workmanship are stated to be a matter for the Architect/Contract Administrator's approval, such quality and standards shall be to the Architect/Contract Administrator's reasonable satisfaction.
- 2.1.5 The Contractor shall take all reasonable steps to encourage Contractor's Persons to be registered cardholders under the Construction Skills Certification Scheme (CSCS) or qualified under an equivalent recognised qualification scheme.

#### 2.2 Commencement and completion

The Works may be commenced on and shall be completed by the respective dates stated in the Contract Particulars.

#### 2.3 Architect/Contract Administrator's duties

The Architect/Contract Administrator shall issue any further information and instructions necessary for the proper carrying out of the Works and all certificates required by these Conditions.

#### 2.4 Correction of inconsistencies

Any inconsistency in or between the Contract Drawings, the Contract Specification and the Work Schedules shall be corrected and any such correction which results in an addition, omission or other change shall be treated as a variation under clause 3.6.1.

#### 2.5 **Divergences from Statutory Requirements**

- 2.5.1 If the Contractor becomes aware of any divergence between the Statutory Requirements and the Contract Documents or between the Statutory Requirements and any instruction from the Architect/Contract Administrator, it shall immediately notify the latter, specifying the divergence.
- 2.5.2 Provided the Contractor is not in breach of clause 2.5.1, the Contractor shall not be liable under this Contract if the Works do not comply with the Statutory Requirements to the extent that the non-compliance results from the Contractor having carried out work in accordance with the Contract Documents or the Architect/Contract Administrator's instructions.

#### 2.6 Fees or charges legally demandable

The Contractor shall pay any fees or charges (including any rates or taxes) legally demandable under any of the Statutory Requirements. Such fees and charges shall not be reimbursable to the Contractor by the Employer unless otherwise agreed.



#### 2.7 Extension of time

If it becomes apparent that the Works will not be completed by the Date for Completion as stated in the Contract Particulars or as later fixed under this clause 2.7, the Contractor shall thereupon notify the Architect/Contract Administrator. Where that delay occurs for reasons beyond the control of the Contractor, including compliance with Architect/Contract Administrator's instructions that are not occasioned by a default of the Contractor, the Architect/Contract Administrator shall give such extension of time for completion as may be reasonable and notify the Parties accordingly. Reasons within the control of the Contractor include any default of the Contractor, of any Contractor's Person or of any of their respective suppliers of goods or materials for the Works.

#### 2.8 Damages for non-completion

- 2.8.1 If the Works are not completed by the Date for Completion as stated in the Contract Particulars or as later fixed under clause 2.7, the Employer may require the Contractor to pay or allow to the Employer liquidated damages at the rate stated in the Contract Particulars between such Date for Completion and the date of practical completion.
- 2.8.2 Subject to clause 2.8.3, the Employer may deduct the liquidated damages from any sum due to the Contractor under this Contract (provided a notice of that deduction has been given under clause 4.6.4 or (if applicable) 6.12.3 or 6.12.5) or recover those damages from the Contractor as a debt.
- 2.8.3 If the Employer intends to deduct any such damages from any sum due to the Contractor under this Contract or thereafter recover such damages as a debt, it shall additionally notify the Contractor of that intention not later than the due date for the final payment under clause 4.9.1 or (if applicable) the Termination Payment under clause 6.7.4 or 6.11.3.
- 2.8.4 If the Contractor's employment is terminated under this Contract:
  - 2.8.4.1 where the date of termination occurs prior to the date of practical completion, the provisions of clauses 2.8.1 to 2.8.3 shall apply in respect of the period between the Date for Completion as stated in the Contract Particulars or as later fixed under clause 2.7 and the date of termination, and the reference to the date of practical completion in clause 2.8.1 shall be deemed to be a reference to the date of termination;
  - 2.8.4.2 in respect of the period after the date of termination, subject to clause 2.8.4.1, the Employer shall not be empowered to require the payment of or to deduct liquidated damages under clause 2.8 but the provisions of this clause 2.8.4.2 shall be without prejudice to and not in substitution of any other rights and remedies of the Employer.

#### 2.9 **Practical completion**

The Architect/Contract Administrator shall certify the date when in its opinion the Works have reached practical completion and the Contractor has complied sufficiently with clause 3.9 in respect of the supply of documents and information.

#### 2.10 **Defects**

If any defects, shrinkages or other faults in the Works appear within the Rectification Period due to materials, goods or workmanship not in accordance with this Contract the Architect/Contract Administrator shall not later than 14 days after the expiry of the Rectification Period notify the Contractor and the Contractor shall make good such defects, shrinkages or other faults entirely at its own cost unless the Architect/Contract Administrator with the Employer's consent instructs otherwise. If the Architect/Contract Administrator instructs otherwise, an appropriate deduction may be made from the Contract Sum.

#### 2.11 Certificate of making good

The Architect/Contract Administrator shall, when in its opinion the Contractor's obligations under clause 2.10 have been discharged, forthwith issue a certificate specifying the date they were discharged.



212646704 Minor Works Building Contract, 2024 Edition - Domestic Boiler Replacements

#### Control of the Works Section 3

#### 3.1 **Assignment**

Neither the Employer nor the Contractor shall, without the consent of the other, assign this Contract or any rights thereunder.

#### 3.2 Person-in-charge

The Contractor shall ensure that at all reasonable times it has on the site a competent person in charge. Any instructions given to that person by the Architect/Contract Administrator shall be deemed to have been issued to the Contractor.

#### 3.3 **Sub-contracting**

- 3.3.1 The Contractor shall not without the Architect/Contract Administrator's consent sub-contract the whole or any part of the Works. In no case shall any such consent or any subcontracting in any way affect the Contractor's obligations under any other provision of this Contract.
- 3.3.2 Where considered appropriate, the Contractor shall engage the sub-contractor using the JCT Short Form of Sub-Contract. It shall be a condition of any sub-contract that:
  - 3.3.2.1 the sub-contractor's employment under the sub-contract shall terminate immediately upon the termination (for any reason) of the Contractor's employment under this Contract;
  - 3.3.2.2 (without limiting either party's statutory and/or regulatory duties) each party to the sub-contract shall in relation to the Works and the site comply with applicable CDM Regulations and as applicable Part 2A of the Building Regulations[24];
  - 3.3.2.3 if by a final date for payment under the sub-contract the Contractor fails to pay the sub-contractor any amount that should properly have been paid, the Contractor shall, in addition to that amount, pay simple interest on it at the Interest Rate for the period from the final date for payment until such payment is made, such payment of interest to be on and subject to terms equivalent to those of clause 4.7 of these Conditions.

#### 3.4 **Architect/Contract Administrator's instructions**

The Architect/Contract Administrator may issue instructions and the Contractor shall forthwith comply with them. If instructions are given orally, they shall not have effect until the Architect/Contract Administrator confirms them in writing.

#### 3.5 Non-compliance with instructions

If within 7 days after receipt of a notice from the Architect/Contract Administrator requiring compliance with an instruction the Contractor does not comply, the Employer may employ and pay other persons to execute work of any kind that may be necessary to give effect to that instruction. The Contractor shall be liable for all additional costs incurred by the Employer in connection with such employment and an appropriate deduction may be made from the Contract Sum.

#### 3.6 **Variations**

- 3.6.1 The Architect/Contract Administrator may without invalidating this Contract issue instructions requiring an addition to, omission from, or other change in the Works or the order or manner in which they are to be carried out (a 'variation').
- 3.6.2 The Architect/Contract Administrator and the Contractor shall endeavour to agree a price prior to the Contractor carrying out the instruction.

See footnote [25] to clause 3.9 below. [24]



3.6.3 Failing agreement under clause 3.6.2, any instructions for a variation and any matters that are to be treated as a variation shall be valued by the Architect/Contract Administrator on a fair and reasonable basis using any relevant prices in the priced Contract Specification/Work Schedules/Schedule of Rates, and the valuation shall include any direct loss and/or expense incurred by the Contractor due to the regular progress of the Works being affected by compliance with the instruction.

#### 3.7 **Provisional Sums**

The Architect/Contract Administrator shall issue instructions in regard to the expenditure of any Provisional Sums included in the Contract Documents; failing agreement on price, such instructions shall be valued on the basis set out in clause 3.6.3.

#### 3.8 **Exclusion from the Works**

The Architect/Contract Administrator may (but shall not unreasonably or vexatiously) issue instructions requiring the exclusion from the site of any person employed thereon.

#### 3.9 CDM Regulations and Part 2A of the Building Regulations

Without limiting either Party's statutory and regulatory duties and responsibilities, each Party undertakes to the other that in relation to the Works and site it will duly comply with applicable CDM Regulations and as applicable Part 2A of the Building Regulations [25], and in particular but without limitation:

- the Employer shall ensure that the Principal Designer carries out its duties and, where the 3.9.1 Contractor is not the Principal Contractor, shall ensure that the Principal Contractor carries out its duties under those regulations;
- 3.9.2 the Contractor shall comply with:[26]
  - regulations 8 and 15 of the CDM Regulations and, where it is the Principal Contractor for the purposes of the CDM Regulations, with regulations 12 to 14 of those regulations; and
  - 3.9.2.2 regulations 11F, 11J and 11L of the Building Regulations and, where it is the Principal Contractor for the purposes of the Building Regulations, with regulation 11N of those regulations;
- 3.9.3 if the Employer appoints a replacement for any Principal Designer or Principal Contractor, the Employer shall immediately upon that appointment notify the Contractor with details of the new appointee.

<sup>[25]</sup> Part 2A of the Building Regulations, introduced by the Building Regulations etc. (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2023 pursuant to the Building Safety Act 2022, sets out a framework of safety duties and competence requirements for those persons involved in the procurement, design and undertaking of building work to which building regulations apply (including higher-risk building work for which additional duties apply) If any project involves higher-risk building work, see the Guidance Notes.

<sup>[26]</sup> Under the CDM Regulations and the Building Regulations, where the Employer is a domestic client (as defined in regulation 2(1) in both sets of regulations), the Principal Contractor may also be responsible for carrying out certain of the client's duties.

### Section 4 **Payment**

#### 4.1 VAT

The Contract Sum is exclusive of VAT and in relation to each payment to the Contractor under this Contract, the Employer shall in addition pay the amount of any VAT properly chargeable in respect of

#### 4.2 Construction Industry Scheme (CIS)

If the Employer is or at any time up to the payment of the final certificate becomes a 'contractor' for the purposes of the CIS<sup>[27]</sup>, its obligation to make any payment under this Contract is subject to the provisions of the CIS.

#### 4.3 Interim payments - dates and certificates

- 4.3.1 During the period up to the due date for the final payment fixed under clause 4.9.1, the due dates for interim payments to the Contractor shall in each case be the date 7 days after the relevant Interim Valuation Date.
- 4.3.2 The Architect/Contract Administrator shall not later than 5 days after each due date issue an interim certificate, stating the sum that it considers to be or have been due to the Contractor at the due date, calculated in accordance with clause 4.4, and the basis on which that sum has been calculated, including the amount of each adjustment.
- 4.3.3 Subject to clause 4.6.3, the final date for payment of each interim payment shall be 14 days from its due date.

#### 4.4 Interim payments - calculation of sums due

The amount of each interim payment to be certified under clause 4.3.2 shall be the applicable percentage, as stated in the Contract Particulars, of the total value of:

- 4.4.1 work properly executed, adjusted where relevant for any amounts ascertained or agreed under clause 3.6, 3.7 or 4.8; and
- 4.4.2 materials and goods reasonably and properly brought on to the site for the purpose of the Works that are adequately protected against weather and other casualties

in both cases calculated as at the Interim Valuation Date and adjusted for any fluctuations provision that is stated by the Contract Particulars to apply, less the total of sums stated as due to the Contractor in previous interim certificates, any sums paid in respect of any payment notice given by the Contractor after the issue of the latest interim certificate and, if applicable, any deduction under clause 2.10 or 3.5.

#### 4.5 Contractor's applications and payment notices

- 4.5.1 In relation to any interim payment the Contractor may not later than its Interim Valuation Date or, in the case of the final payment, may at any time prior to issue of the final certificate make an application to the Architect/Contract Administrator, stating the sum that the Contractor considers to be due to it at the relevant due date, as fixed in accordance with clause 4.3 or 4.9, and the basis on which that sum has been calculated.
- 4.5.2 If a certificate is not issued in accordance with clause 4.3 or 4.9, then:
  - 4.5.2.1 where the Contractor has made an application for that payment in accordance with clause 4.5.1, that application is for the purposes of these Conditions a payment notice; or
  - where the Contractor has not made such an application, it may at any time after 4.5.2.2 the 5 day period referred to in clause 4.3.2 or 4.9.2 give a payment notice to the Architect/Contract Administrator, stating the sum that the Contractor considers to

See the Contract Particulars (Fourth Recital and clause 4.2). [27]



have become due to it under clause 4.4 or 4.9 at the relevant due date and the basis on which that sum has been calculated.

#### 4.6 Payments - amount and notices

- 4.6.1 Subject to any notice given by the paying Party under clause 4.6.4, the paying Party shall pay the sum stated as due in the relevant certificate on or before the final date for payment under clause 4.3 or 4.9.
- 4.6.2 If that certificate is not issued in accordance with clause 4.3 or 4.9 but a Contractor's payment notice has been or is then given, the Employer shall, subject to any notice subsequently given by it under clause 4.6.4, pay the Contractor the sum stated as due in the Contractor's payment notice.
- 4.6.3 Where the Contractor gives a payment notice under clause 4.5.2.2, the final date for payment of the sum specified in it shall for all purposes be regarded as postponed by the same number of days as the number of days after expiry of the 5 day period referred to in clause 4.5.2.2 that the Contractor's payment notice is given.

#### 4.6.4 Where:

- 4.6.4.1 the Employer intends to pay less than the sum stated as due from it in a certificate or, where applicable, the Contractor's payment notice; or
- 4.6.4.2 if the final certificate shows a balance due to the Employer, the Contractor intends to pay less than the sum stated as due,

the Party by which the payment is stated to be payable shall not later than 5 days before the final date for payment give the other Party notice of that intention (a 'pay less notice'), stating the sum (if any) that it considers to be due to the other Party at the date the pay less notice is given and the basis on which that sum has been calculated. Where a pay less notice is given, the payment to be made on or before the final date for payment shall not be less than the amount stated in it as due.

- 4.6.5 A pay less notice to be given by the Employer under clause 4.6.4 may be given on its behalf by the Architect/Contract Administrator or by any other person which the Employer notifies the Contractor as being authorised to do so.
- 4.6.6 In relation to the requirements for the issue of certificates and the giving of notices under section 4, it is immaterial that the amount then considered to be due may be zero.

#### 4.7 Failure to pay amount due

- 4.7.1 If either Party fails to pay a sum, or any part of it, due to the other Party under these Conditions by the final date for payment, it shall, in addition to any unpaid amount that should properly have been paid, pay the other Party simple interest on that amount at the Interest Rate for the period from the final date for payment until payment is made.
- 4.7.2 Any such unpaid amount and any interest under clause 4.7.1 shall be recoverable as a debt. Acceptance of a payment of interest shall not in any circumstances be construed as a waiver either of the recipient's right to proper payment of the principal amount due or of the Contractor's rights to suspend performance under clause 4.8 or terminate its employment under section 6.

#### 4.8 Contractor's right of suspension

- If the Employer fails to pay a sum payable to the Contractor in accordance with clause 4.6 481 (together with any VAT properly chargeable in respect of that payment) by the final date for payment and the failure continues for 7 days after the Contractor has given notice to the Employer, with a copy to the Architect/Contract Administrator, of its intention to suspend performance of its obligations under this Contract and the grounds for such suspension, the Contractor, without affecting its other rights and remedies, may suspend performance of any or all of those obligations until payment is made in full.
- 4.8.2 Where the Contractor exercises its right of suspension under clause 4.8.1, it shall be entitled to a reasonable amount in respect of costs and expenses reasonably incurred by it as a result of exercising the right.
- 4.8.3 Applications in respect of any such costs and expenses shall be made to the



Minor Works Building Contract, 2024 Edition - Domestic Boiler Replacements

Architect/Contract Administrator and the Contractor shall with its application or on request submit such details of them as are reasonably necessary for ascertaining the amount in question. When ascertained or agreed, the amount shall be included in the next interim certificate.

#### 4.9 Final certificate and final payment

- 4.9.1 Following practical completion the Contractor shall within the period stated in the Contract Particulars supply to the Architect/Contract Administrator all documentation reasonably required for computation of the final payment. The due date for the final payment shall be 28 days after either the date of receipt of the documentation or, if later, the date specified in the certificate under clause 2.11.
- 4.9.2 Not later than 5 days after that due date the Architect/Contract Administrator shall issue a final certificate which shall state:
  - the Contract Sum, as adjusted for the amounts referred to in clause 4.4.1, any fluctuations provision that applies and any deductions made under clause 2.10 or 3.5:
  - 4.9.2.2 the sum of amounts stated as due in interim certificates plus any amount paid in respect of any Contractor's payment notice in accordance with clause 4.6 that is not reflected in a subsequent certificate,

and (without affecting the rights of the Contractor in respect of any interim payment not paid in full by the Employer by its final date for payment) the final payment shall be the difference (if any) between the two sums, which shall be shown in the certificate as a balance due to the Contractor from the Employer or vice versa. The certificate shall state the basis on which that amount has been calculated, including the amount of each adjustment.

4.9.3 Subject to clause 4.6.3, the final date for payment of the final payment shall be 14 days from its due date.

#### 4.10 Fixed price and fluctuations provisions

Subject to clauses 3.6, 3.7 and 4.8 and any fluctuations provision that is stated by the Contract Particulars (for clauses 4.4 and 4.9) to apply, no account shall be taken in any payment to the Contractor under this Contract of any change in the cost to the Contractor of the labour, materials, plant and other resources employed in carrying out the Works.

### Section 5 Injury, Damage and Insurance

#### 5.1 Contractor's liability – personal injury or death

The Contractor shall be liable for, and shall indemnify the Employer against, any expense, liability, loss, claim or proceedings whatsoever in respect of personal injury to or death of any person arising out of or in the course of or caused by the carrying out of the Works, except to the extent that the same is due to any act or neglect of the Employer, any Employer's Person or any Statutory Provider.

#### 5.2 Contractor's liability – loss, injury or damage to property

Subject to clauses 5.2.1 to 5.2.3, the Contractor shall be liable for, and shall indemnify the Employer against, any expense, liability, loss, claim or proceedings in respect of any loss, injury or damage whatsoever to any property real or personal (other than loss, injury or damage to the Works and/or Site Materials) in so far as such loss, injury or damage arises out of or in the course of or by reason of the carrying out of the Works and to the extent that the same is due to any negligence, breach of statutory duty, omission or default of the Contractor or any Contractor's Person. In respect of existing structures and their contents:

- 5.2.1 where clause 5.5 applies, the Contractor's liability and indemnity under this clause 5.2 also excludes any loss or damage to those existing structures or to any of their contents that are required to be insured under clause 5.5.1 that is caused by any of the risks or perils required or agreed to be insured against under clause 5.5;
- 5.2.2 the exclusion in clause 5.2.1 shall apply notwithstanding that the loss or damage is or may be due in whole or in part to the negligence, breach of statutory duty, omission or default of the Contractor or any Contractor's Person;
- 5.2.3 where clause 5.6 applies, the Contractor's liability and indemnity under this clause 5.2 shall, in respect of loss, injury or damage to those existing structures and their contents due to the causes specified in clause 5.2, be subject to any limitations and exclusions specified in the insurance arrangements under clause 5.6 identified in the Contract Particulars.

#### 5.3 Contractor's insurance of its liability

Without limiting or affecting its indemnities to the Employer under clauses 5.1 and 5.2, the Contractor shall effect and maintain insurance in respect of claims arising out of the liabilities referred to in those clauses which:

- 5.3.1 in respect of claims for personal injury to or the death of any employee of the Contractor arising out of and in the course of such person's employment, shall comply with all relevant legislation; and
- 5.3.2 for all other claims to which clause 5.3 applies[28], shall indemnify the Employer in like manner to the Contractor, but only to the extent that the Contractor may be liable to indemnify the Employer under the terms of this Contract and shall for any one occurrence or series of occurrences arising out of one event be in a sum not less than that stated in the Contract Particulars for clause 5.3.

#### Joint Names Insurance of the Works by Contractor<sup>[29][30]</sup> 5.4

If the Contract Particulars state that clause 5.4 applies, the Contractor shall effect and maintain with insurers approved by the Employer a Joint Names Policy for All Risks Insurance for the full reinstatement value of the Works (plus the percentage, if any, stated in the Contract Particulars to

- [28] It should be noted that the cover granted under Public Liability policies taken out pursuant to clause 5.3 may not be co-extensive with the indemnity given to the Employer in clauses 5.1 and 5.2: for example, each claim may be subject to an excess and cover may not be available in respect of loss or damage due to gradual pollution.
- [29] Where the Contractor has in force an All Risks Policy which insures the Works, this Policy may be used to provide the insurance required by clause 5.4 provided the Policy recognises the Employer as a composite insured in respect of the Works.
- [30] As to choice of applicable insurance provisions, see the Guidance Notes.



cover professional fees) and shall maintain such Joint Names Policy up to and including the date of issue of the practical completion certificate or, if earlier, the date of termination of the Contractor's employment.

#### 5.5 Joint Names Insurance of the Works and existing structures by Employer[30]

If the Contract Particulars state that clause 5.5 applies, the Employer shall effect and maintain:

- 5.5.1 a Joint Names Policy in respect of the existing structures together with the contents of them owned by it or for which it is responsible, for the full cost of reinstatement, repair or replacement of loss or damage due to any of the Specified Perils;
- 5.5.2 a Joint Names Policy for All Risks Insurance for the full reinstatement value of the Works (plus the percentage, if any, stated in the Contract Particulars to cover professional fees)

and shall maintain such Joint Names Policies up to and including the date of issue of the practical completion certificate or, if earlier, the date of termination of the Contractor's employment.

#### 5.6 Insurance of the Works and existing structures by other means[30]

If the Contract Particulars state that clause 5.6 applies, the insurance arrangements identified by those particulars shall apply and each Party shall effect and maintain the policy or policies for which it is stated to be responsible or shall ensure that such policy or policies are effected and maintained, in each case in and on the specified terms.

#### 5.7 Evidence of insurance

Where a Party is required by this Contract to effect and maintain an insurance policy or cover under any of clauses 5.3, 5.4, 5.5 and 5.6, or is responsible for ensuring that it is effected and maintained, that Party shall within 7 days of a request of the other Party supply such documentary evidence as the other Party may reasonably require that the policy or cover has been effected and remains in force.

#### 5.8 Loss or damage - insurance claims and reinstatement

- 5.8.1 If during the carrying out of the Works any loss or damage affecting any executed work or Site Materials is occasioned by any of the risks covered by the Works Insurance Policy or an Excepted Risk or there is any loss of or damage of any kind to any existing structure or its contents, the Contractor shall forthwith notify the Architect/Contract Administrator and the Employer.
- Subject to clauses 5.8.5.1 and 5.8.6, the occurrence of such loss or damage to executed 5.8.2 work or Site Materials shall be disregarded in calculating any amounts payable to the Contractor under this Contract.
- 5.8.3 The Contractor, for itself and its sub-contractors, shall authorise the insurers to pay to the Employer all monies from the Works Insurance Policy, and from any policies covering existing structures or their contents that are effected by the Employer.
- 5.8.4 Where loss or damage affecting executed work or Site Materials is occasioned by any risk covered by the Works Insurance Policy, the Contractor, after any inspection required by the insurers under that policy, shall and with due diligence restore the damaged work, replace or repair any lost or damaged Site Materials, remove and dispose of any debris (collectively 'reinstatement work') and proceed with the carrying out and completion of the Works.
- 5.8.5 Where clause 5.4 applies or where clause 5.6 applies and the Contractor is responsible for effecting the Works Insurance Policy:
  - 5.8.5.1 the Employer shall pay all monies from such insurance to the Contractor by instalments under separate reinstatement work certificates issued by the Architect/Contract Administrator at the same dates as those for interim certificates under clause 4.3 but without deduction of retention and less only the amounts referred to in clause 5.8.5.2:
  - 5.8.5.2 the Employer may retain from those monies any amounts properly incurred by the Employer and notified by it to insurers in respect of professional fees up to the aggregate amount of the percentage cover for those fees or (if less) the amount paid by insurers in respect of those fees;
  - 5.8.5.3 in respect of reinstatement work, the Contractor shall not be entitled to any



MW 2024 212646704

> payment other than amounts received under the Works Insurance Policy and for the purposes of clause 2.7, but not otherwise under these Conditions, such work shall be treated as a variation under clause 3.6.

5.8.6 Where clause 5.5 applies, where clause 5.6 applies and the Employer is responsible for effecting the Works Insurance Policy or where loss or damage is caused by an Excepted Risk, reinstatement work shall be treated as a variation under clause 3.6.

#### 5.9 Loss or damage to existing structures - right of termination

If there is material loss of or damage to any existing structure, the Employer shall be under no obligation to reinstate that structure, but either Party may, if it is just and equitable, terminate the Contractor's employment under this Contract by notice given to the other within 28 days of the occurrence of that loss or damage. If such notice is given, then:

- 5.9.1 unless within 7 days of receiving the notice (or such longer period as may be agreed) the Party to which it is given invokes a dispute resolution procedure of this Contract to determine whether the termination is just and equitable, it shall be deemed to be so;
- 5.9.2 upon the giving of that notice or, where a dispute resolution procedure is invoked within that period, upon any final upholding of the notice, the provisions of clause 6.11 shall apply.

#### Section 6 **Termination**

#### 6.1 Meaning of insolvency

For the purposes of these Conditions a person becomes insolvent on:

- 6.1.1 the making of an administration, bankruptcy or winding-up order against it, appointment of an administrative receiver, receiver or manager of its property, its passing of a resolution for voluntary winding-up without declaration of solvency or any other event referred to in section 113, sub-sections (2) to (5), of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996;
- 6.1.2 otherwise entering administration within the meaning of Schedule B1 to the Insolvency Act 1986:
- 6.1.3 entering into an arrangement, compromise or composition in satisfaction of its debts (excluding a scheme of arrangement as a solvent company for the purposes of amalgamation or reconstruction);
- 6.1.4 (in the case of a partnership) each partner being the subject of an individual arrangement or any other event or proceedings referred to in this clause 6.1;
- 6.1.5 (in the case of a company) the coming into force of a moratorium pursuant to Part A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986 with respect to it; or
- 6.1.6 (in the case of a company) the making of an order sanctioning a compromise or arrangement pursuant to Part 26A of the Companies Act 2006 with respect to it.

#### 6.2 Notices under section 6

- 6.2.1 Notice of termination of the Contractor's employment shall not be given unreasonably or vexatiously.
- 6.2.2 Such termination shall take effect on receipt of the relevant notice.
- 6.2.3 Each notice referred to in this section, except for the notices referred to in clause 6.12, shall:
  - 6.2.3.1 be delivered by hand or sent by Signed For 1st class or Special Delivery Guaranteed post (or any method of posting as has replaced either method and is then current) and, where sent by post in that manner, shall be deemed to have been received on the second Business Day after the date of posting; or
  - 6.2.3.2 (where clause 6.2.3.2 is stated in the Contract Particulars to apply) be sent by email to the recipient's email address stated in the Contract Particulars against clause 6.2.3.2, or to such other email address as the recipient may from time to time notify to the sender (provided that such notification states that it is a notice of change under this clause 6.2.3.2), and shall be deemed to have been received on the next Business Day after the day on which it was sent.

#### 6.3 Other rights, reinstatement

- 6.3.1 The provisions of clauses 6.4 to 6.7 are without prejudice to any other rights and remedies of the Employer. The provisions of clauses 6.8 and 6.9 and (in the case of termination under either of those clauses) the provisions of clause 6.11, are without prejudice to any other rights and remedies of the Contractor.
- 6.3.2 Irrespective of the grounds of termination, the Contractor's employment may at any time be reinstated if and on such terms as the Parties agree.

#### 6.4 **Default by Contractor**

6.4.1 If, before practical completion of the Works, the Contractor:



- 6.4.1.1 without reasonable cause wholly or substantially suspends the carrying out of the Works: or
- 6.4.1.2 fails to proceed regularly and diligently with the Works; or
- 6.4.1.3 fails to comply with clause 3.9,

the Architect/Contract Administrator may give to the Contractor a notice specifying the default or defaults (a 'specified' default or defaults).

6.4.2 If the Contractor continues a specified default for 7 days from receipt of the notice under clause 6.4.1, the Employer may on, or within 10 days from, the expiry of that 7 day period by a further notice to the Contractor terminate the Contractor's employment under this Contract.

#### 6.5 **Insolvency of Contractor**

- 6.5.1 If the Contractor is insolvent, the Employer may at any time by notice to the Contractor terminate the Contractor's employment under this Contract.
- As from the date the Contractor becomes insolvent, whether or not the Employer has given 6.5.2 such notice of termination:
  - 6.5.2.1 clauses 6.7.2 to 6.7.5 shall apply as if such notice had been given;
  - 6.5.2.2 the Contractor's obligations under Article 1 and these Conditions to carry out and complete the Works shall be suspended; and
  - 6.5.2.3 the Employer may take reasonable measures to ensure that the site, the Works and Site Materials are adequately protected and that such Site Materials are retained on site; the Contractor shall allow and shall not hinder or delay the taking of those measures.

#### 6.6 Corruption and regulation 73(1)(b) of the PC Regulations

The Employer shall be entitled by notice to the Contractor to terminate the Contractor's employment, under this or any other contract with the Employer if, in relation to this or any other such contract, the Contractor or any person employed by it or acting on its behalf shall have committed an offence under the Bribery Act 2010, or, where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority, shall have given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an offence under sub-section (2) of section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972, or, where this Contract is one to which regulation 73(1) of the PC Regulations applies, the circumstances set out in regulation 73(1)(b) of the PC Regulations apply.

#### 6.7 Consequences of termination under clauses 6,4 to 6,6

If the Contractor's employment is terminated under clause 6.4, 6.5 or 6.6:

- 6.7.1 the Employer may employ and pay other persons to carry out and complete the Works, or may do so itself, and the Employer and such other persons may enter upon and take possession of the site and the Works and (subject to obtaining any necessary third party consents) may use all temporary buildings, plant, tools, equipment and Site Materials for those purposes;
- 6.7.2 no further sum shall become due to the Contractor under this Contract other than any amount that may become due to it under clause 6.7.5 and the Employer need not pay any sum that has already become due either:
  - 6.7.2.1 insofar as the Employer has given or gives a notice under clause 4.6.4; or
  - 6.7.2.2 if the Contractor, after the last date upon which such notice could have been given by the Employer in respect of that sum, has become insolvent within the meaning of clause 6.1.1 or 6.1.2;
- 6.7.3 upon completion of the Works and the making good of defects in them (or of instructions otherwise, as referred to in clause 2.10) ('completion'), the Employer shall forthwith notify the Contractor of the date of completion and such completion shall be deemed for the purposes of this clause 6.7 to have taken place on the date so notified;
- 6.7.4 the due date for the Termination Payment under clause 6.7.5 shall be 2 months after the date of completion as referred to in clause 6.7.3;



- 6.7.5 the amount due on termination shall be calculated in accordance with the following amounts:
  - the amount of expenses properly incurred by the Employer, including those 6.7.5.1 incurred pursuant to clause 6.7.1 and, where applicable, clause 6.5.2.3, and of any direct loss and/or damage caused to the Employer and for which the Contractor is liable, whether arising as a result of the termination or otherwise;
  - 6.7.5.2 the amount of payments made to the Contractor; and
  - the total amount which would have been payable for the Works in accordance 6.7.5.3 with this Contract.

and if the sum of the amounts referred to in clauses 6.7.5.1 and 6.7.5.2 exceeds the amount referred to in clause 6.7.5.3, the difference shall be an amount payable by the Contractor to the Employer or, if that sum is less, by the Employer to the Contractor (the 'Termination Payment').

#### 6.8 **Default by Employer**

- 6.8.1 If the Employer:
  - 6.8.1.1 does not pay by the final date for payment the amount due to the Contractor in accordance with clause 4.6 and/or any VAT properly chargeable on that amount;
  - 6.8.1.2 interferes with or obstructs the issue of any certificate due under this Contract; or
  - 6.8.1.3 fails to comply with clause 3.9,

the Contractor may give to the Employer a notice specifying the default or defaults (a 'specified' default or defaults).

- 6.8.2 If before practical completion of the Works the carrying out of the whole or substantially the whole of the uncompleted Works is suspended for a continuous period of one month or more by reason of:
  - 6.8.2.1 Architect/Contract Administrator's instructions under clause 3.6; and/or
  - 6.8.2.2 any impediment, prevention or default, whether by act or omission, by the Employer, the Architect/Contract Administrator or any Employer's Person

(but in either case excluding such instructions as are referred to in clause 6.10.1.2), then, unless in either case that is caused by the negligence or default of the Contractor or any Contractor's Person, the Contractor may give to the Employer a notice specifying the event or events (a 'specified' suspension event or events).

6.8.3 If a specified default or a specified suspension event continues for 7 days from the receipt of notice under clause 6.8.1 or 6.8.2, the Contractor may on, or within 10 days from, the expiry of that 7 day period by a further notice to the Employer terminate the Contractor's employment under this Contract.

#### 6.9 Insolvency of Employer

- 6.9.1 If the Employer is insolvent, the Contractor may by notice to the Employer terminate the Contractor's employment under this Contract;
- 6.9.2 as from the date the Employer becomes insolvent, the Contractor's obligations under Article 1 and these Conditions to carry out and complete the Works shall be suspended.

#### 6.10 Termination by either Party and regulation 73(1)(a) of the PC Regulations

- 6.10.1 If, before practical completion of the Works, the carrying out of the whole or substantially the whole of the uncompleted Works is suspended for the relevant continuous period of one month or more by reason of one or more of the following events:
  - 6.10.1.1 force majeure;
  - 6.10.1.2 Architect/Contract Administrator's instructions under clause 3.6 issued as a result of the negligence or default of any Statutory Provider;



- 6.10.1.3 loss or damage to the Works occasioned by any risk covered by the Works Insurance Policy or by an Excepted Risk;
- 6.10.1.4 civil commotion or the use or threat of terrorism and/or the activities of the relevant authorities in dealing with such event or threat; or
- 6.10.1.5 the exercise by the United Kingdom Government or any of the devolved administrations, or any Local or Public Authority or any equivalent authority governed by public law in any of the devolved administrations of any statutory power (except to the extent caused or contributed to by any default, whether by act or omission, of the Contractor or any Contractor's Person) which affects the execution of the Works.

then either Party, subject to clause 6.10.2, may upon the expiry of that relevant period of suspension give notice to the other that, unless the suspension ceases within 7 days after the date of receipt of that notice, it may terminate the Contractor's employment under this Contract. Failing such cessation within that 7 day period, it may then by further notice terminate that employment.

- 6.10.2 The Contractor shall not be entitled to give notice under clause 6.10.1 in respect of the matter referred to in clause 6.10.1.3 where the loss or damage to the Works was caused by the negligence or default of the Contractor or any Contractor's Person.
- 6.10.3 Where this Contract is one to which regulation 73(1) of the PC Regulations applies the Employer shall be entitled by notice to the Contractor to terminate the Contractor's employment under this Contract where the grounds set out in regulation 73(1)(a) of the PC Regulations apply.

#### 6.11 Consequences of termination under clauses 6.8 to 6.10

If the Contractor's employment is terminated under any of clauses 6.8 to 6.10 or under clause 5.9:

- 6.11.1 no further sums shall become due to the Contractor otherwise than in accordance with this clause 6.11;
- 6.11.2 the Contractor shall not later than 2 months after the date of termination provide the Employer with all documents necessary for calculating the amounts referred to in clause 6.11.4. Not later than 3 months after receipt of those documents, the Employer shall prepare and send to the Contractor an account which shall set out the amounts referred to in clause 6.11.4;
- 6.11.3 the due date for the Termination Payment under clause 6.11.4 shall be the last date for issue of the Employer's account under clause 6.11.2;
- 6.11.4 the amount due on termination from the Employer to the Contractor or (if a negative amount) from the Contractor to the Employer shall be the aggregate of:
  - 6.11.4.1 the total value of work properly executed at the date of termination of the Contractor's employment, ascertained in accordance with these Conditions as if the employment had not been terminated, together with any other amounts due to the Contractor under these Conditions;
  - the cost of materials or goods (including Site Materials) properly ordered for the 6.11.4.2 Works for which the Contractor then has paid or is legally bound to pay;
  - (only where the Contractor's employment is terminated either under clause 6.8 6.11.4.3 or 6.9, or under clause 6.10.1.3 if the loss or damage to the Works was caused by the negligence or default of the Employer or any Employer's Person) any direct loss and/or damage caused to the Contractor by the termination,

less amounts previously paid to the Contractor under this Contract, but without deduction of any retention (the 'Termination Payment'). Payment by the Employer for any such materials and goods as are referred to in clause 6.11.4.2 shall be subject to those materials and goods thereupon becoming the property of the Employer.

#### 6.12 Termination Payment - final date, notices and amount

6.12.1 Subject to clause 6.12.5, the final date for payment of the Termination Payment shall be 14 days from its due date, as fixed in accordance with clause 6.7.4 or 6.11.3.



- 6.12.2 Not later than 5 days after the relevant due date the Employer shall give a termination payment notice to the Contractor, which shall state the sum that it considers to be or have been due at the due date, calculated in accordance with clause 6.7.5 or 6.11.4, and the Termination Payment shall be the difference or amount referred to in clause 6.7.5 or 6.11.4, which shall be shown in the termination payment notice as a balance due to the Contractor from the Employer or vice versa. Such notice shall state the basis on which that amount has been calculated.
- 6.12.3 If the Party by which the Termination Payment is stated to be payable ('the payer') intends to pay less than the stated balance, it shall not later than 5 days before the final date for payment give the other Party a pay less notice which shall state the sum (if any) that it considers to be due to the other Party at the date the pay less notice is given and the basis on which that sum has been calculated and where given by the Employer, the provisions of clause 4.6.5 shall correspondingly apply.
- 6.12.4 Where a pay less notice is given under clause 6.12.3, the payment to be made on or before the final date for payment shall not be less than the amount stated in it as due.
- 6.12.5 If a termination payment notice is not given by the Employer in accordance with clause 6.12.2:
  - the Contractor may at any time after the 5 day period referred to in clause 6.12.2 6.12.5.1 give a termination payment notice to the Employer, stating the sum that the Contractor considers to have become due under clause 6.7.5 or 6.11.4 at the due date and the basis on which that sum has been calculated and, subject to any pay less notice given under clause 6.12.5.3, the Termination Payment shall be the sum stated as due in the Contractor's termination payment notice;
  - 6.12.5.2 if the Contractor gives a termination payment notice under clause 6.12.5.1, the final date for payment of the sum specified in it shall for all purposes be regarded as postponed by the same number of days after expiry of the 5 day period referred to in clause 6.12.2 that the Contractor's termination payment notice is given;
  - 6.12.5.3 following the Contractor's termination payment notice the Employer may not later than 5 days before the final date for payment give a pay less notice in accordance with clause 6.12.3 and, if it gives such notice, the provisions of clause 6.12.4 shall correspondingly apply.
- If the payer fails to pay the Termination Payment, or any part of it, by the final date for its 6.12.6 payment, the payer shall, in addition to any unpaid amount that should properly have been paid, pay the other Party simple interest on that amount at the Interest Rate for the period from the final date for payment until payment is made. Acceptance of a payment of any such interest shall not in any circumstances be construed as a waiver of any right to proper payment of the principal amount due. Any such unpaid amount and any interest under this clause 6.12.6 shall be recoverable as a debt.
- 6.12.7 In relation to the requirements in this clause 6.12 for the giving of termination payment notices by the Employer, and pay less notices, it is immaterial that the amount then considered to be due may be zero.

### Section 7 **Settlement of Disputes**

#### 7.1 Notification and negotiation of disputes

With a view to avoidance or early resolution of disputes or differences (subject to Article 7), each Party shall promptly notify the other of any matter that appears likely to give rise to a dispute or difference. The senior executives nominated in the Contract Particulars (or if either is not available, a colleague of similar standing) shall meet as soon as practicable for direct, good faith negotiations to resolve the matter.

#### 7.2 Mediation

Subject to Article 7, if a dispute or difference arises under this Contract which cannot be resolved by direct negotiations, each Party shall give serious consideration to any request by the other to refer the matter to mediation.

#### 7.3 Adjudication

If a dispute or difference arises under this Contract which either Party wishes to refer to adjudication, the Scheme shall apply except that for the purposes of the Scheme the Adjudicator shall be the person (if any) and the nominating body shall be that stated in the Contract Particulars.

#### 7.4 Arbitration

For the purposes of Article 8, if it applies, the procedures for arbitration are set out in Schedule 1.[31]

# **Schedules**

#### **Arbitration** Schedule 1

(Clause 7.4)

### Conduct of arbitration

1 Any arbitration pursuant to Article 8 shall be conducted in accordance with the JCT 2024 edition of the Construction Industry Model Arbitration Rules (CIMAR), provided that if any amendments to that edition of the Rules have been issued by the JCT the Parties may, by a joint notice to the Arbitrator, state that they wish the arbitration to be conducted in accordance with the Rules as so amended. References in this Schedule 1 to a Rule or Rules are references to such Rule(s) as set out in the JCT 2024 edition of CIMAR.

### Notice of reference to arbitration

2

- 2.1 Where pursuant to Article 8 either Party requires a dispute or difference to be referred to arbitration, that Party shall serve on the other Party a notice of arbitration to such effect in accordance with Rule 2.1 identifying the dispute and requiring the other Party to agree to the appointment of an arbitrator. The Arbitrator shall be an individual agreed by the Parties or, failing such agreement within 14 days (or any agreed extension of that period) after the notice of arbitration is served, appointed on the application of either Party in accordance with Rule 2.3 by the person selected in accordance with the Contract Particulars.
- 2.2 Where two or more related arbitral proceedings in respect of the Works fall under separate arbitration agreements, Rules 2.6, 2.7 and 2.8 shall apply.
- 2.3 After the Arbitrator has been appointed either Party may give a further notice of arbitration to the other Party and to the Arbitrator referring any other dispute which falls under Article 8 to be decided in the arbitral proceedings and Rule 3.3 shall apply.

# **Powers of Arbitrator**

3 Subject to the provisions of Article 8 the Arbitrator shall, without prejudice to the generality of their powers, have power to rectify this Contract so that it accurately reflects the true agreement made by the Parties, to direct such measurements and/or valuations as may in their opinion be desirable in order to determine the rights of the Parties and to ascertain and award any sum which ought to have been the subject of or included in any certificate and to open up, review and revise any certificate, opinion, decision, requirement or notice and to determine all matters in dispute which shall be submitted to them in the same manner as if no such certificate, opinion, decision, requirement or notice had been given.

# Effect of award

Subject to paragraph 5 the award of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on the Parties.

# Appeal - questions of law

- The Parties hereby agree pursuant to section 45(2)(a) and section 69(2)(a) of the Arbitration Act 1996 that either Party may (upon notice to the other Party and to the Arbitrator):
  - 5.1 apply to the courts to determine any question of law arising in the course of the reference, and
  - 5.2 appeal to the courts on any question of law arising out of an award made in an arbitration under this arbitration agreement.

Minor Works Building Contract, 2024 Edition - Domestic Boiler Replacements

# **Arbitration Act 1996**

6 The provisions of the Arbitration Act 1996 shall apply to any arbitration under this Contract wherever the same, or any part of it, shall be conducted.

### Schedule 2 **Supplemental Provisions**

(Seventh Recital)

Supplemental Provisions 1 to 3 apply unless otherwise stated in the Contract Particulars. Supplemental Provision 4 applies where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority or other body of the type mentioned in that provision; Supplemental Provision 5 applies where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority and this Contract is subject to the PC Regulations.

# Health and safety

1

- 1.1 Without limiting either Party's statutory and/or regulatory duties and responsibilities and/or the specific health and safety requirements of this Contract, the Parties will endeavour to establish and maintain a culture and working environment in which health and safety is of paramount concern to everybody involved with the project.
- 1.2 In addition to the specific health and safety requirements of this Contract, the Contractor undertakes to:
  - comply with any and all approved codes of practice produced or promulgated by 1.2.1 the Health and Safety Executive;
  - 1.2.2 ensure that all personnel engaged by the Contractor and members of the Contractor's supply chain on site receive appropriate site-specific health and safety induction training and regular refresher training;
  - 1.2.3 ensure that all such personnel have access at all times to competent health and safety advice in accordance with regulation 7 of the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999; and
  - 1.2.4 ensure that there is full and proper health and safety consultation with all such personnel in accordance with the Health and Safety (Consultation with Employees) Regulations 1996.

# Cost savings and value improvements

2

- 2.1 The Contractor is encouraged to propose changes to designs and specifications for the Works and/or to the programme for their execution that may benefit the Employer, whether in the form of a reduction in the cost of the Works or their associated life cycle costs, through practical completion at a date earlier than the date for completion or otherwise.
- 2.2 The Contractor shall provide details of its proposed changes, identifying them as suggested under this Supplemental Provision 2, together with its assessment of the benefit it believes the Employer may obtain, expressed in financial terms, and a quotation.
- Where the Employer wishes to implement a change proposed by the Contractor, the 2.3 Parties shall negotiate with a view to agreeing its value, the financial benefit and any adjustment to the date for completion. Upon agreement, the change and the amount of any adjustment of the Contract Sum shall be confirmed in an Architect/Contract Administrator's instruction, together with the share of the financial benefit to be paid to the Contractor and any adjustment to the date for completion.
- 2.4 Original proposals by the Contractor under this Supplemental Provision 2 may only be instructed in accordance with it, provided always that nothing shall prevent the Employer from utilising other contractors to implement such changes after practical completion of the Works.

# Performance Indicators and monitoring

3

- 3.1 The Employer shall monitor and assess the Contractor's performance by reference to any performance indicators stated or identified in the Contract Documents.
- 3.2 The Contractor shall provide to the Employer all information that the Employer may reasonably require to monitor and assess the Contractor's performance against the targets for those performance indicators.
- 3.3 Where the Employer considers that a target for any of those performance indicators may not be met, it may inform the Contractor and the Contractor shall submit its proposals for improving its performance against that target to the Employer.

# Transparency

- 4 Where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority or other body to which the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 ('FOIA') apply, the Parties acknowledge that, except for any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of FOIA, the content of this Contract is not confidential. The Employer shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion whether any of the content of this Contract is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of FOIA. Notwithstanding any other term of this Contract:
  - 4.1 the Contractor hereby consents to the Employer publishing any amendments to the standard form JCT contract in their entirety, including changes to the standard form agreed from time to time, but in each case with any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of FOIA redacted;
  - 4.2 the Employer shall promptly inform the Contractor of any request for disclosure that it receives in relation to this Contract.

### The Public Contracts Regulations 2015

- 5 Where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority and this Contract is subject to the PC Regulations[32]:
  - 5.1 where regulation 113 of the PC Regulations applies to this Contract, the Contractor shall include in any sub-contract it enters into suitable provisions to impose the requirements of regulation 113(2)(c)(i) and (ii);
  - 5.2 the Contractor shall include in any sub-contract it enters into provisions requiring the subcontractor:
    - 5.2.1 to supply and notify to the Contractor the information required (as applicable) under regulations 71(3), 71(4) and 71(5) of the PC Regulations; and
    - 5.2.2 to include in any sub-subcontract the sub-contractor in turn enters into provisions to the same effect as required under paragraph 5.2.1 of Supplemental Provision 5:

5.3

- 5.3.1 the Contractor shall include in any sub-contract it enters into provisions that shall entitle the Contractor to terminate the sub-contractor's employment where there are grounds for excluding the sub-contractor under regulation 57;
- 5.3.2 in the event the Employer requires the Contractor to terminate a sub-contractor's employment pursuant to regulation 71(9) the Contractor shall take the appropriate steps to terminate that employment and where required by the Employer under regulation 71(9) shall, or in circumstances where there is no such requirement may, appoint a replacement sub-contractor.

# **Guidance Notes**

# **Use of Minor Works Building Contract**

- The Contract should only be used where the employer has engaged an architect or other 1 professionally qualified person to advise on and administer its terms.
- 2 The criteria for determining the suitability of the Contract are set out on the inside of the front cover.
- For Works which do not fulfil these criteria, reference should be made to www.jctltd.co.uk for guidance as to the appropriate contract.
- The Contract is predicated upon a lump sum offer being obtained, based on drawings and/or a specification and/or work schedules, but without detailed measurements. Those documents should therefore be in a form sufficient to enable the Contractor accurately to identify the work to be done without the need for the Employer to provide bills of quantities. In those cases where there is a relevant BIM protocol, it is assumed that it will be included in the Contract Documents.
- 5 The Contract is not suitable for use where the Works are of a complex nature.
- 6 The payment provisions in the Contract comply with the payment and payment-related notice requirements of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, as amended ('the Construction Act'). In addition to the statutory requirements regarding payment procedures, the Construction Act provides a statutory right for either Party to refer disputes or differences to adjudication.
- 7 However, not all building contracts are subject to the Construction Act; for example, a contract with a residential occupier within the meaning of section 106 of the Act is excluded and therefore it does not need to contain adjudication provisions, but, unless amendments are made, a residential occupier in entering into a Minor Works Building Contract will be accepting adjudication as a means of resolving disputes.
- 8 For some projects where it is intended to use the Contract, the Employer may wish to control the selection of sub-contractors for specialist work. This may be done by naming a person or company in the tender documents or in instructions on the expenditure of a Provisional Sum. There are, however, no provisions in the Contract to deal with the consequences of such naming and control of specialist work may be better achieved by the Employer entering into a direct contract with its chosen specialist.

# Outline of the Contract

# General

9 Defined terms are dealt with in clause 1.1 and there is a short version of JCT's standard interpretation provisions set out in clauses 1.2 to 1.8. In the 2024 edition the section 1 and section 6 provisions relating to the service of notices have been extended to provide for service by email.

# Architect/Contract Administrator

10 This is the professional which the Employer has appointed to advise on and administer the Contract. If the appointee is not an architect, it is taken to be referred to in the Contract as the 'Contract Administrator', but, irrespective of the Architect/Contract Administrator's profession, their duties under the Contract are the same.

# Role of the Architect/Contract Administrator

- 11 The Architect/Contract Administrator is paid by the Employer, advises the Employer on all matters in connection with the building work and administers the Contract on behalf of the Employer with a view to securing completion of the work in an efficient and economical manner. However, in relation to decisions in that administrative role that require professional skill and judgment, it should act fairly and independently as between the Employer and the Contractor, in particular when:
  - issuing payment certificates;



212646704 Minor Works Building Contract, 2024 Edition - Domestic Boiler Replacements

- valuing any variations or any work instructed in respect of Provisional Sums (see "Terms used") included in the Contract Documents;
- giving any extension to the time stated in the Contract Particulars for the completion of the building
- certifying the date of practical completion (see "Terms used") and the date when in its opinion all defects which appear during the Rectification Period (see "Terms used") have been made good.

### Instructions

12 Under the Contract only the Architect/Contract Administrator can issue instructions to the Contractor; although the Employer is paying for the building work, the Employer is not entitled to give any instructions direct to the Contractor in connection with it. If the Employer wishes to make any change to the work or the manner in which it is being carried out, it must ask the Architect/Contract Administrator to give the necessary instructions to the Contractor.

### **Price**

13 This is the lump sum stated in the Contract, plus any VAT properly chargeable on the building work. The precise sum may be increased or decreased depending on any changes to the work or the order or period in which it is carried out, the value of work instructed by the Architect/Contract Administrator in respect of any Provisional Sums included in the Contract Documents and, where applicable, any increase or decrease in contributions, levies and taxes for which the Contractor is liable.

### Time-scale for the work

14 If it becomes apparent that the work cannot be finished within the original time stated in the Contract Particulars the Contractor is required to notify the Architect/Contract Administrator straightaway. If the delay arises for reasons beyond the control of the Contractor, the Architect/Contract Administrator is then required to give such extension of time as is reasonable.

If the work is not finished by the Date for Completion (see "Terms used") after taking into account any extensions of time, the Employer can recover liquidated damages (see "Terms used") from the Contractor.

# **Payment**

15 In section 4, payment is to be made under certificates issued by the Architect/Contract Administrator. Interim payments are to be made against interim certificates issued by the Architect/Contract Administrator. The final balance is paid following the issue of the final certificate. The final date for payment of certificates, together with any VAT chargeable to the Employer, is 14 days from the due date for payment. The Construction Act requires interim and final certificates to be issued not later than 5 days after their due date and clauses 4.3 (Interim payments – dates and certificates) and 4.9 (Final certificate and final payment) comply with these requirements.

The provisions relating to the due dates for payment for interim payments are set out in clause 4.3. During the period up to the due date for the final payment, the due dates for interim payments are in each case the date 7 days after the relevant Interim Valuation Date. The first Interim Valuation Date and the intervals that will apply for subsequent Interim Valuation Dates are to be specified in the entry in the Contract Particulars for clause 4.3. JCT recommends that the first Interim Valuation Date should not be more than one month after the Works commencement date and the intervals between Interim Valuation Dates should not be more than one month. If the Contract Particulars entry is not completed, the default provisions set out in the entry apply.

The amount of each interim payment to be certified as due under clause 4.3 is to be calculated in accordance with cause 4.4. Unless a percentage for payment other than 95 per cent is inserted in the Contract Particulars for clause 4.4, interim certificates for the period up to practical completion will reflect the Employer's entitlement to retain 5 per cent. For the period between practical completion and the final certificate, the Contract envisages that the percentage retained will be halved.

The general provisions governing Contractor's payment applications (and, in default of a payment certificate, their role as a payment notice) which apply with respect to the final payment as well as to interim payments are set out in clause 4.5.

The provisions regarding payment and pay less notices, amounts to be paid and default interest are set out in clauses 4.6 and 4.7 and as the text of each indicates, these clauses apply with respect to the final payment as well as to interim payments. Clause 4.9 provides for issue of the final certificate.

MW 2024 17/09/2025 13:18 UTC 212646704

> If the Employer fails to pay an amount due to the Contractor by the final date for its payment, interest at a rate of 5% per annum over the official bank rate of the Bank of England is payable by the Employer for the period until payment is made.

> If the Employer gives a pay less notice and pays the lesser amount specified in the pay less notice, the Contractor's right under the Construction Act to suspend for non-payment does not arise. However, the JCT provision for interest is intended to preserve the Contractor's right to interest on the additional amount that it should have been paid, insofar as there was no sustainable basis for a withholding by the Employer and regardless of any pay less notice that the latter has given.

### Suspension

16 If the Employer does not give a pay less notice and does not pay the amount due to the Contractor by the final date for its payment, or, having given a pay less notice, then fails to pay the amount specified in it, the Contractor, after giving a 7 day notice, has the right to suspend performance of some or all of its obligations under the Contract until payment of the appropriate amount is made. The Contractor also has a statutory right to recover reasonable costs and expenses that it incurs as a result of that suspension.

# **Termination**

17 Either Party may end the Contractor's employment if the other Party is in breach of certain obligations (in the case of the Contractor those mentioned in clauses 6.4 and 6.6; in the case of the Employer those in clause 6.8) or becomes insolvent. There is also a right under clause 6.10.1 for either Party to terminate in the case of prolonged suspension resulting from certain neutral causes and (where applicable) clause 6.10.3 allows for termination by the Employer on the substantial modification ground set out in regulation 73(1)(a) of the PC Regulations.

The section 6 termination accounting and payment provisions have in this 2024 edition been amended to provide for the Construction Act's payment procedures. There is a new defined term, i.e. the 'Termination Payment' and some adjustments to the accounting provisions in clauses 6.7 and 6.11 including the insertion of due date provisions. The provisions regarding the final date for payment of the Termination Payment, payment and pay less notices, amount to be paid and default interest are set out in clause 6.12.

# **Dealing with disputes**

18 Either Party may at any time refer any dispute to adjudication for a 'fast track' decision; the adjudicator's decision is binding unless and until the dispute is decided by an arbitrator or the court. Residential occupiers wishing to use the Contract should also refer to paragraph 7 above. The Contract Particulars enable the Parties to name an individual adjudicator and specify the adjudicator nominating body in advance, should they wish. However, an individual should not be named in the Contract without their prior agreement. It has also to be recognised that those of sufficient standing to merit nomination are generally busy people and that when a dispute arises they may not be available.

As respects specifying the adjudicator nominating body in advance, the relevant entry in the Contract Particulars in this 2024 edition of the Contract has been adjusted to allow the Parties to specify a nominating body of their own choosing as an alternative to selecting a body from those listed. The bodies listed will be familiar to JCT contract users. Such bodies are required to provide feedback to JCT regarding their adjudication services on an ongoing basis. If a Party is unsure about the suitability of a proposed alternative (non-listed) body JCT suggests seeking appropriate professional advice.

The Parties may also agree to mediate a dispute.

For final dispute resolution in cases where either or both Parties are dissatisfied with the results of adjudication or mediation (or neither Party wished to have the dispute adjudicated), the choice is between court litigation and arbitration. Since 2005 litigation has been the default option under JCT contracts. If arbitration is the agreed choice, it should be selected through the appropriate entry in the Contract Particulars.

The JCT 2024 edition of the Construction Industry Model Arbitration Rules (CIMAR), which includes the JCT Supplementary and Advisory Procedures, will govern any arbitration that is commenced. It is recommended that anyone considering instituting arbitration proceedings should obtain a copy of the rules and, as with litigation, should take competent professional advice before taking steps to institute proceedings.

In making the choice between arbitration and litigation, in addition to the adjudication option, one should consider a range of other factors. Arbitration provides the ability to choose an arbitrator from any relevant profession, greater freedom of choice procedurally and confidentiality, whereas in

litigation there is the wider power of the court. In the case of contracts where claims either way are likely to be small, it may be considered desirable to keep open the potentially cheaper route of using the small claims track in the court system; any agreement to arbitrate, unless suitably qualified, would normally operate as a bar to using that route if the other Party did not agree.

# Rights and remedies generally

19 Statutory and common law rights are not restricted by the terms of the Contract. The limitation period for a contract that is simply signed by the Parties is 6 years from the date of the breach or, where it is executed as a deed, 12 years. The limitation period should not be confused with the Rectification Period, which is provided to facilitate the remedying of the Contractor's defective work by allowing it to return to site to make good.

# Supplemental Provisions

20 Schedule 2 includes optional Supplemental Provisions which are for use where appropriate. The previous supplemental provisions for collaborative working, sustainability (the wording of which has been adjusted slightly in this edition), and notification and negotiation of disputes have been moved into the Agreement or main text of the Conditions and are now no longer optional, a change that is in common with other JCT contract forms and is part of JCT's response to the government's Construction Playbook document. The three remaining Supplemental Provisions (1 to 3) are those relating to health and safety, cost savings and performance monitoring and their applicability will need to be considered. The choice as to which of these provisions apply is made in the Contract Particulars and if no choice is made in relation to a provision, it will apply (these provisions are generally intended to be disapplied only where there is a Framework Agreement or other contract documentation that covers the same ground).

Schedule 2 also contains Supplemental Provision 4 which relates to the Freedom of Information Act 2000 ('FOIA'); it will only apply where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority or other body to which the FOIA applies. Supplemental Provision 5 contains provisions relevant to the PC Regulations and this will only apply where the Employer is a Local or Public Authority and the Contract is subject to those regulations. For guidance on aspects of the PC Regulations relevant to JCT contracts, please go to www.jctltd.co.uk.

### Terms used

21 As part of its duties to the Employer, the Architect/Contract Administrator should be prepared to explain the general meanings of the various terms used in the Contract. For example:

# **Base Date**

22 The Base Date is stated in the Contract Particulars. The date often selected is 7 days or thereabouts before the date for submission of tenders so as to avoid any need for tenderers to deal with last minute changes. In the Minor Works Building Contract, however, Base Date plays a comparatively minor role, acting as the date of record for the Employer's status under the CIS scheme and for determining what fluctuations are payable.

### CDM Regulations

23 Regulations made under Act of Parliament to improve health and safety standards on construction sites. For guidance on the CDM Regulations 2015, please go to www.jctltd.co.uk.

# Part 2A of the Building Regulations

24 Part 2A of the Building Regulations 2010 was introduced by the Building Regulations etc. (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2023 pursuant to the Building Safety Act 2022. Part 2A sets out a framework of safety duties for those persons ('dutyholders') who commission, design and undertake building work to which building regulations apply, with a limited exclusion where the work consists only of minor work of a prescribed type. Part 2A includes obligations to appoint a Principal Designer and Principal Contractor in respect of works to which the regulations apply. Dutyholders are required to ensure that they have the necessary competence to carry out design and building work and that arrangements and systems are in place to plan, manage and monitor compliance with the regulations. Additional duties apply to higher-risk building work. For information, please go to www.jctltd.co.uk.

### **Principal Designer and Principal Contractor**

25 The respective persons named in the Agreement or subsequently appointed as such, as required by the CDM Regulations and Part 2A of the Building Regulations. With a view to minimising health and safety risks, the CDM Regulations require the Employer to appoint a Principal Designer to control the pre-construction phase where there is more than one contractor, or it is reasonably foreseeable that more than one contractor will be working on the project at any time. One of the contractors must also be appointed as Principal Contractor in those circumstances. (For these purposes the term 'contractor' includes sub-contractors.) The Building Regulations provide that instead of appointing a separate principal designer and principal contractor, the client may certify that the CDM principal designer and the CDM principal contractor should be treated as appointed in these roles for the purposes of the Building Regulations (Part 2A, regulation 11D(2)). Professional advice should be sought as to whether this is appropriate in any given project.

### CDM Health and safety file

26 A manual which the Principal Designer prepares with assistance from the Principal Contractor, containing health and safety information necessary for anyone undertaking work on the site postcompletion of the Works, which the Principal Designer passes on to the Principal Contractor if its appointment terminates before the end of the project and is to be delivered to the Employer on completion.

### **Date for Completion**

27 The date by which the Contractor is required to finish the work, as stated in the Contract Particulars or subsequently extended by the Architect/Contract Administrator.

### Date of practical completion

28 The date when, in the Architect/Contract Administrator's opinion, the Contractor has to all practical intents and purposes completed the Works.

# **Rectification Period**

29 Unless otherwise agreed, the Rectification Period is 3 months from the date of practical completion. The Contractor is required to put right any defects in the work which appear during the Rectification Period before it is entitled to be paid the final balance of the Contract price. The Architect/Contract Administrator is required to notify the Contractor of any such defects not later than 14 days after the expiry of the Rectification Period.

### **Insurance in Joint Names**

30 With respect to Works insurance, clause 5.4 is intended for use where there are no existing structures and the contractor is to arrange a Joint Names, All Risks policy, under which each Party is covered as a 'composite insured'. This may take the form of a specific project policy or through equivalent coverage under the Contractor's annual CAR policy.

Clause 5.5 is for use where there are existing structures and the Employer is able to cover the works on a Joint Names, All Risks basis and, in addition to its own cover for existing structures, is able to extend at least Specified Perils cover to the Contractor in respect of the existing structures.

However, existing structures cover for the Contractor is not always readily available to Employers at reasonable cost, in particular where the Employer is a domestic homeowner or where it is only a tenant and structures cover is effected by the freeholder or an intermediate lessor, and clause 5.6 is designed for cases in these latter categories.

The freeholder Employer may cover the Works in Joint Names and continue with its own cover under its household or existing structures policy, with the Contractor covering its liability for any damage to existing structures under the Public Liability cover required under clause 5.3.2 or an appropriate extension of it.

In the case of tenant Employers, it is necessary to involve the insuring landlord and in all cases, in particular those involving existing structures, it is essential that Employers and Architect/Contract Administrators, prior to the tender stage, take appropriate specialist insurance advice, consult the Employer's household or existing structures insurers and, where relevant, the landlord. They should also then liaise with the prospective Contractor and its advisers at the earliest opportunity, specify any further cover required from it and check that that is in place before work commences on site.

In the case of the Works insurance, care should also be taken in determining the full reinstatement value (including any applicable VAT) and to ensure that the policy gives appropriate cover for items such as the additional costs of materials, working and removal of debris etc. that are likely to arise from loss or damage to the Works.

# Liquidated damages

31 The rate per day/week/month stated in the Contract Particulars by the Employer, to compensate it for the Contractor's failure to finish the work on time. The prudent Employer will be alert to the legal principles and rules governing the enforceability of liquidated damages provisions and will approach calculation of the rate with these in mind. It is suggested that the Employer records an explanation of the rate and why the rate represents (i) a genuine pre-estimate of the loss that it is likely to suffer or (ii) a reasonable and proportionate protection of its legitimate commercial interest(s) in timely completion, which it can use to respond to any challenge.

It is for the Employer to decide whether to deduct any liquidated damages that it might be entitled to from any amount certified as due to the Contractor; such deduction is not taken into account by the Architect/Contract Administrator in the calculation of any certificate and the appropriate notice must be given by the Employer under clauses 2.8 and 4.6.4 or (if applicable) 6.12.3 or 6.12.5.

In the 2024 edition there is a new provision (clause 2.8.4) designed to clarify the position in relation to liquidated damages where the Contractor's employment is terminated under the Contract during a period of Contractor culpable delay which essentially confirms the approach taken in recent case law.

# **Provisional Sum**

32 A sum included for work which the Employer may or may not decide to have carried out, or which cannot be accurately specified in the original contract documents. For instance, where the Employer is undecided whether all, some or none of the outside of the premises will need to be re-decorated, the pricing documents may say "Allow £X for complete external redecoration of the premises." If the Employer then decides any redecoration is necessary, the specification required is instructed by the Architect/Contract Administrator and the price to be paid is either agreed between the Architect/Contract Administrator and the Contractor or valued by the Architect/Contract Administrator.

### **Variation**

33 A change to the work that the Architect/Contract Administrator instructs on behalf of the Employer. The variation may be an addition to or an omission from the work as originally specified or to the order or manner in which it is to be carried out.

# MW User Checklist

A checklist of the key information that will help you to complete the Agreement may be downloaded from the JCT website.

Care has been taken in preparing these Guidance Notes but they should not be treated as a definitive legal interpretation or commentary. Users are reminded that the effect in law of the provisions of the Minor Works Building Contract 2024 Edition is, in the event of a dispute as to that effect, a matter for decision in adjudication, arbitration or litigation.



All parties must rely exclusively upon their own skill and judgment or upon those of their advisers when using this document and neither Thomson Reuters (Professional) UK Limited nor its associated companies assume any liability to any user or any third party in connection with such use.

SWEET & MAXWELL





DATED 2025

(1) NEW FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL

– and –

(2) AP FAULKNER LTD

**DATA PROCESSING AGREEMENT** 

	22	September	
This Agreement is made the .	day of		.2025

#### Between:

- (A) **NEW FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL** of Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, SO43 7PA ("the Council");
- (B) **AP FAULKNER** Ltd (Company Number 804474) whose registered office is Unit K, Bridge Farm, Reading Road, Arborfield, Reading, RG2 9HT ("Supplier").

#### **BACKGROUND**

- (C) The Council and the Supplier entered into an agreement related to for the establishment of a Framework Agreement for the Replacement of Domestic Boilers in Council Housing (2025-2029) ('Master Agreement') on 15/09/2025 (as amended by the Parties from time to time) that may require the Supplier to process Protected Data on behalf of the Council.
- (A) This Agreement governs all processing of Protected Data undertaken by the Supplier under and in connection with the Master Agreement.

#### 1. **DEFINITIONS**

1.1 In this Agreement:

"Agreement" means this contract between the Council and the

Supplier;

"Commencement Date" means the date of this Agreement;

"Controller" has the meaning given in applicable Data

Protection Laws from time to time;

"Data Protection Laws" means all applicable law relating to the

Processing, privacy and/or use of Personal Data, as applicable to either Party or the Services,

including:

(a) the UK GDPR;

- (b) the Data Protection Act 2018;
- (c) the Privacy and Electronic Communications Regulations 2003 (SI 2003/2426);
- (d) any laws which implement or supplement any such laws:
- (e) any laws that replace, extend, re-enact, consolidate or amend any of the foregoing; and
- (f) all guidance, guidelines and codes of practice issued by any relevant Data Protection

Supervisory Authority relating to such Data Protection Laws (in each case whether or not legally binding);

"Data Protection Supervisory Authority"

means any regulator, authority or body responsible for administering Data Protection Laws;

"Data Subject"

has the meaning given in applicable Data Protection Laws from time to time;

"International Organisation"

has the meaning given in applicable Data Protection Laws from time to time:

"Party"

means the Supplier or the Council (as appropriate) and "Parties" shall mean both of them;

"Personal Data"

has the meaning given in applicable Data Protection Laws from time to time:

"Personal Data Breach"

has the meaning given in applicable Data Protection Laws from time to time:

"Processing"

has the meaning given in applicable Data Protection Laws from time to time (and related expressions, including process, processed, and processes shall be construed accordingly);

"Processing End Date"

means in respect of any Protected Data, the earlier of:

- (a) the end of the provision of the relevant Services related to the processing of such Protected Data: or
- (b) once processing by the Supplier of such Protected Data is no longer required for the purpose of the Supplier's performance of its relevant obligations under this Agreement;

"Processor"

has the meaning given in applicable Data Protection Laws from time to time:

"Protected Data"

means Personal Data received from or on behalf of the Council, or otherwise obtained in connection with the performance of the Supplier's obligations under this Agreement;

"Services"

means the services to be supplied by the Supplier to the Council under the Master Agreement comprising *replacement of domestic boilers across NFDC district*;

"Staff"

means all directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants and contractors of the Supplier and/or of any sub-contractor of the Supplier engaged in

the performance of the Supplier's obligations

under the Agreement;

"Sub-Processor" means any Processor engaged by the Supplier (or

by any other Sub-Processor) for carrying out any processing activities in respect of the Protected

Data;

"UK GDPR" means the General Data Protection Regulation,

Regulation (EU) 2016/679, as it forms part of domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtue of section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (including as further amended or modified by the laws of the United Kingdom or of a part of the

United Kingdom from time to time);

"Working Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on

which banks are open for business in the City of

London.

- 1.2 Unless otherwise expressly stated in this Agreement:
  - 1.2.1 This Agreement is subject to the terms of the Master Agreement and is incorporated into the Master Agreement. Interpretations and defined terms set forth in the Master Agreement apply to the interpretation of this Agreement.
  - 1.2.2 The Supplier's obligations and the Council's rights and remedies under this Agreement are cumulative with, and additional to, one another.

#### 2. CONFLICTS

- 2.1 Unless otherwise expressly stated in this Agreement, in the event of any conflict or inconsistency between different parts of this Agreement or between this Agreement and the Master Agreement, the following descending order of priority applies: (a) the terms and conditions in the main body of this Agreement (highest priority); (b) the Schedule of this Agreement; (c) the Master Agreement, and subject to the above order of priority between documents, later versions of documents shall prevail over earlier ones if there is any conflict or inconsistency between them.
- 2.2 The Supplier's obligations and the Council's rights and remedies under this Agreement are without prejudice and additional to the Supplier's obligations and the Council's rights and remedies under the Master Agreement.

#### 3. COMPLIANCE WITH DATA PROTECTION LAWS

- 3.1 The Parties agree that the Council is a Controller and that the Supplier is a Processor for the purposes of processing Protected Data pursuant to this Agreement.
- 3.2 The Supplier shall, and shall ensure the Sub-Processors and each of the Staff shall, at all times, comply with all Data Protection Laws in connection with the processing of Protected Data and the provision of the Services and shall not by any act or omission cause the Council (or any other person) to be in breach of any of the Data Protection Laws.

- 3.3 Nothing in this Agreement relieves the Supplier of any responsibilities or liabilities under Data Protection Laws.
- 3.4 Nothing in this Agreement (or in the Master Agreement) affects the rights of Data Subjects under Data Protection Laws (including those in Articles 79 and 82 of the UK GDPR or in any equivalent Data Protection Laws) against the Council, the Supplier or any Sub-Processor.

#### 4. SUPPLIER INDEMNITY

- 4.1 The Supplier shall indemnify and keep indemnified the Council against:
  - 4.1.1 all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, fines, interest, penalties, costs, charges, sanctions, expenses, compensation paid to Data Subjects (including compensation to protect goodwill and ex gratia payments), demands and legal and other professional costs (calculated on a full indemnity basis and in each case whether or not arising from any investigation by, or imposed by, a Data Protection Supervisory Authority) arising out of or in connection with any breach by the Supplier of its obligations under this Agreement; and
  - 4.1.2 all amounts paid or payable by the Council to a third party which would not have been paid or payable if the Supplier's breach of this Agreement had not occurred.

#### 5. INSTRUCTIONS

- 5.1 The Supplier shall only process (and shall ensure Staff only process) the Protected Data in accordance with Schedule 1 and the Council's written instructions from time to time (including with regard to any transfer to which clause 10 relates) except where otherwise required by applicable law (and in such a case shall inform the Council of that legal requirement before processing, unless applicable law prevents it doing so on important grounds of public interest).
- 5.2 The Supplier shall immediately inform the Council if any instruction relating to the Protected Data infringes or may infringe any Data Protection Law.
- 5.3 The Supplier shall retain records of all instructions relating to the Protected Data received from the Council.

#### 6. SECURITY

- 6.1 The Supplier shall, at all times, implement and maintain appropriate technical and organisational measures to protect Protected Data against accidental, unauthorised or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, disclosure or access. Such technical and organisational measures shall be at least equivalent to the technical and organisational measures set out in Schedule 1 and shall reflect the nature of the Protected Data.
- 6.2 Except as agreed by the Parties by way of a binding variation of this Agreement, the Supplier may not make any change to the security measures it applies to the Protected Data from time to time to the extent any such change would conflict with the provisions of this Agreement.

#### 7. SUB-PROCESSING AND PERSONNEL

- 7.1 The Supplier shall not permit any processing of Protected Data by any agent, sub-contractor, Sub-Processor or other third party (except its own Staff that are subject to an enforceable obligation of confidence with regards to the Protected Data) without the prior specific written authorisation of that third party by the Council that takes effect by way of a binding variation to this Agreement and only then subject to such conditions as the Council may require.
- 7.2 The Supplier shall ensure that access to Protected Data is limited to the authorised persons who need access to it to supply the Services.
- 7.3 The Supplier shall, prior to the relevant Sub-Processor carrying out any Processing activities in respect of the Protected Data, appoint the relevant Sub-Processor under a binding written contract containing the same obligations as under this Agreement in respect of Protected Data and that (without prejudice to, or limitation of, the foregoing):
  - 7.3.1 includes providing sufficient guarantees to implement appropriate technical and organisational measures in such a manner that the processing of the Protected Data will meet the requirements of all Data Protection Laws; and
  - 7.3.2 is enforceable by the Supplier,

and ensure each such Sub-Processor is at all times subject to a binding written contract that complies with such terms and that each Sub-Processor complies with all such obligations.

- 7.4 The Supplier shall remain fully liable to the Council under this Agreement for all the acts and omissions of each Sub-Processor and each of the Staff as if they were its own.
- 7.5 The Supplier shall ensure that all persons authorised by the Supplier or any Sub-Processor to process Protected Data are reliable and:
  - 7.5.1 adequately trained on compliance with this Agreement as applicable to the processing;
  - 7.5.2 informed of the confidential nature of the Protected Data and that they must not disclose Protected Data; and
  - 7.5.3 subject to a binding and enforceable written contractual obligation to keep the Protected Data confidential.
- 7.6 The Supplier shall promptly provide all relevant details concerning, and a copy of, each agreement with a Sub-Processor to the Council on request.
- 7.7 The Supplier shall immediately cease using a Sub-Processor upon receiving written notice from the Council requesting that the Sub-Processor ceases processing Protected Data for security reasons or concerns about the Sub-Processor's ability to carry out the relevant processing in compliance with Data Protection Laws or this Agreement.

#### 8. ASSISTANCE

8.1 The Supplier shall (at its own cost and expense) promptly provide such information and assistance (including by taking all appropriate technical and organisational

measures) as the Council may require in relation to the fulfilment of the Council's obligations to respond to requests for exercising the Data Subjects' rights under Chapter III of the UK GDPR (and any similar obligations under applicable Data Protection Laws).

- 8.2 The Supplier shall (at its own cost and expense) promptly provide such information, co-operation and other assistance to the Council as the Council requires (taking into account the nature of processing and the information available to the Supplier) to ensure compliance with the Council's obligations under Data Protection Laws, including with respect to:
  - 8.2.1 security of processing (including with any review of security measures);
  - 8.2.2 data protection impact assessments (as such term is defined in Data Protection Laws);
  - 8.2.3 prior consultation with a Data Protection Supervisory Authority regarding high risk processing; and
  - 8.2.4 any remedial action and/or notifications in response to any Personal Data Breach and/or any complaint or request relating to either Party's obligations under Data Protection Laws relevant to this Agreement, including (subject in each case to the Council's prior written authorisation) regarding any notification of the Personal Data Breach to Data Protection Supervisory Authorities and/or communication to any affected Data Subjects.

#### 9. DATA SUBJECT REQUESTS

The Supplier shall (at no cost to the Council) record and refer all requests and communications received from Data Subjects or any Data Protection Supervisory Authority to the Council which relate (or which may relate) to any Protected Data promptly (and in any event within 2 Working Days of receipt) and shall not respond to any without the Council's express written approval and strictly in accordance with the Council's instructions unless and to the extent required by applicable law.

#### 10. INTERNATIONAL TRANSFERS

The Supplier shall not process and/or transfer, or otherwise directly or indirectly disclose, any Protected Data in or to any country or territory outside the United Kingdom or to any International Organisation without the prior written authorisation of the Council (which may be refused or granted subject to such conditions as the Council deems necessary).

#### 11. RECORDS

11.1 The Supplier shall maintain complete, accurate and up to date written records of all categories of processing activities carried out on behalf of the Council. Such records shall include all information necessary to demonstrate both Parties' compliance with this Agreement, the information referred to in Articles 30(1) and 30(2) of the UK GDPR and such other information as the Council may reasonably require from time to time.

11.2 The Supplier shall make copies of such records under clause 11.1 available to the Council promptly (and in any event within 10 Working Days) on request from time to time.

#### 12. AUDIT

- 12.1 The Supplier shall (and shall ensure all Sub-Processors shall) promptly make available to the Council (at the Supplier's cost) such information as is required to demonstrate the Supplier's and the Council's compliance with their respective obligations under this Agreement and the Data Protection Laws, and allow for, permit and contribute to audits, including inspections, by the Council (or another auditor mandated by the Council) for this purpose at the Council's request from time to time.
- 12.2 The Supplier shall provide (or procure) access to all relevant premises, systems, Staff and records during normal business hours for the purposes of each such audit or inspection upon reasonable prior notice (not being more than 3 Working Days) and provide and procure all further reasonable co-operation, access and assistance in relation to any such audit or inspection.

#### 13. BREACH

- 13.1 The Supplier shall promptly (and in any event within 24 hours) notify the Council if it (or any of the Sub-Processors or the Staff) suspects or becomes aware of any suspected, actual or threatened occurrence of any Personal Data Breach in respect of any Protected Data.
- 13.2 The Supplier shall promptly (and in any event within 24 hours) provide all information as the Council requires to report the circumstances referred to in clause 13.1 (above) to a Data Protection Supervisory Authority and to notify affected Data Subjects under the Data Protection Laws.

#### 14. DELETION/ RETURN

- 14.1 Subject to clause 14.2 the Supplier shall (and shall ensure that each of the Sub-Processors and Staff shall) within not less than 2 Working Days and not more than 4 Working Days of the relevant Processing End Date securely delete the Protected Data (and all copies) except to the extent that storage of any such data is required by applicable law (and, if so, the Supplier shall inform the Council of any such requirement and shall securely delete such data as soon as it is permitted to do so under applicable law).
- 14.2 The Supplier shall (and shall ensure that each of the Sub-Processors and Staff shall) promptly comply (in a secure manner) with any requests from the Council for the return or disclosure to the Council of any Protected Data in such form and by such manner as the Council reasonably requests, provided such request is received 2 Working Days of the relevant Processing End Date.
- 14.3 Within 2 Working Days of the date for performance of any obligation under clause 14.1, the Supplier shall notify the Council in writing:
  - 14.3.1 with confirmation of the extent to which it has complied with all obligations under clause 14.1 to delete Protected Data;

- 14.3.2 if applicable, of the full details of any failure to comply with any obligation under clause 14.1 (in which case the Supplier shall notify the Council immediately once this has been corrected); and
- 14.3.3 if applicable, of the full details of any Protected Data that continues to be stored as required by applicable law (together with confirmation of the relevant law(s)).

#### 15. CONFIDENTIALITY

- 15.1 Subject to clause 15.2, the Supplier shall keep confidential and shall not disclose to any other person the Protected Data except as expressly permitted under this Agreement. The Supplier may disclose Protected Data to the Staff and Sub-Processors on a need-to-know basis and only to the extent necessary for the purposes of this Agreement and in each case only to the extent such disclosure does not conflict with any other provision of this Agreement or the Master Agreement. To the extent the Supplier is permitted to disclose any Protected Data to any Sub-Processor or Staff it shall (without prejudice to any other obligation under this Agreement or the Master Agreement) do so under conditions of confidentiality substantially the same as in this clause 15.
- 15.2 Clause 15.1 shall not apply to information that is required to be disclosed in accordance with the law of the United Kingdom (or any part of the United Kingdom), in which case the Supplier shall, where practicable and not prohibited by the of the United Kingdom (or any part of the United Kingdom), notify the Council of any such requirement before such disclosure.

#### 16. TERM

- 16.1 This Agreement is made in consideration of the respective promises of the Parties in this Agreement and the Master Agreement. Each Party warrants to the other that it has the right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- 16.2 This Agreement shall start on the Commencement Date and shall continue indefinitely unless terminated in accordance with its terms.
- 16.3 Termination or expiry of this Agreement shall not affect any accrued rights and liabilities of either Party at any time up to the date of termination.
- 16.4 The Supplier's obligations and Council's rights under this Agreement shall survive termination or expiry of this Agreement and continue indefinitely.

#### 17. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

- 17.1 This Agreement together with the Master Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and supersedes all previous agreements, understandings and arrangements between them in respect of its subject matter, whether in writing or oral.
- 17.2 Each Party acknowledges that it has not entered into this Agreement (nor the Master Agreement) in reliance on, and shall have no remedies in respect of, any representation or warranty that is not expressly set out in this Agreement or the Master Agreement.

17.3 Nothing in this Agreement (nor the Master Agreement) shall limit or exclude any liability for fraud.

#### 18. NOTICES

- 18.1 Any notice to be given under the Agreement shall be in writing and may be served by personal delivery, first class post or recorded delivery to the address of the relevant Party set out above or such other address as that Party may from time to time notify to the other Party in accordance with this clause.
- 18.2 Notices served by personal delivery shall be deemed served on the Working Day of delivery provided delivery is before 5.00pm on a Working Day. Otherwise delivery shall be deemed to occur on the next Working Day. Notice served by first class post or recorded delivery shall be deemed to have been given 2 Working Days after the date on which the notice was posted unless the notice has been returned as undelivered.

#### 19. FURTHER ASSURANCE

The Supplier shall at the request of the Council do all acts and execute all documents which are necessary to give full effect to this Agreement.

#### 20. VARIATION

No variation of this Agreement shall be valid or effective unless it is in writing, refers to this Agreement and is duly signed or executed by, or on behalf of, each Party.

#### 21. ASSIGNMENT

The Supplier may not assign, transfer or encumber any right or obligation under this Agreement, in whole or in part, without the Council's prior written consent.

#### 22. SEVERANCE

If any provision of this Agreement (or part of any provision) is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the legality, validity and enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement shall not be affected.

#### 23. WAIVER

- 23.1 No failure, delay or omission by either Party in exercising any right, power or remedy provided by law or under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver of that right, power or remedy, nor shall it preclude or restrict any future exercise of that or any other right, power or remedy.
- 23.2 No single or partial exercise of any right, power or remedy provided by law or under this Agreement shall prevent any future exercise of it or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy.
- 23.3 A waiver of any term, provision, condition or breach of this Agreement shall only be effective if given in writing and signed by the waiving Party, and then only in the instance and for the purpose for which it is given.

#### 24. CUMULATIVE RIGHTS

The rights and remedies provided for in this Agreement are cumulative with, and not exclusive of, any rights or remedies otherwise provided by law or in equity. No exercise by a Party of any one right or remedy shall operate so as to hinder or prevent the exercise by it of any other right or remedy.

#### 25. COSTS AND EXPENSES

Unless otherwise expressly stated, each Party shall pay its own costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation, preparation, signature and performance of this Agreement.

#### 26. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

No one other than a Party to this Agreement, their successors and permitted assignees shall have any right to enforce any of its provisions.

#### 27. GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of, or in connection with, it, its subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of England and Wales.

#### 28. JURISDICTION

The Parties irrevocably agree that the courts of England and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute or claim arising out of, or in connection with, this Agreement, its subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims).

Agreed by the Parties on the date set out at the head of this Agreement.

Signed for and on behalf of

**NEW FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL** 

	paul j thomas paul j thomas (Sep 19, 2025 15:39:19 GMT+1)
Signature:	paul j thomas (Sep 19, 2025 15:39:19 GMT+1)
(print Name	:)
Position:	

Signed for and on behalf of

Α	Р	F	а	ul	kn	er	L	td
---	---	---	---	----	----	----	---	----

Signature:
(print Name:)
Position:

# Schedule 1 DATA PROCESSING AND SECURITY DETAILS

# PART A Data Processing Details

Processing of the Protected Data by the Supplier under this Agreement shall be for the subject-matter, duration, nature and purposes and involve the types of Personal Data and categories of Data Subjects set out in this Schedule.

#### 1. SUBJECT MATTER OF PROCESSING

For the performance of the Services.

#### 2. DURATION OF THE PROCESSING

The Processing shall take place until the Processing End Date.

#### 3. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF THE PROCESSING

The nature of the Processing is using tenant details

The purpose of the Processing is to make contact for appointments

#### 4. TYPE OF PERSONAL DATA

Names, Addresses, email addresses and telephone numbers

#### 5. CATEGORIES OF DATA SUBJECTS

Tenants' names, addresses, contact detail

# PART B Minimum Technical and Organisational Security Measures

- 1. Without prejudice to its other obligations, the Supplier shall implement and maintain at least the following technical and organisational security measures to protect the Protected Data:
- 1.1. In accordance with the Data Protection Laws, taking into account the state of the art, the costs of implementation and the nature, scope, context and purposes of the processing of the Protected Data to be carried out under or in connection with this Agreement, as well as the risks of varying likelihood and severity for the rights and freedoms of natural persons and the risks that are presented by the processing, especially from accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorised disclosure of, or access to the Protected Data transmitted, stored or otherwise processed, the Supplier shall implement appropriate technical and organisational security measures appropriate to the risk, including, as appropriate, those matters mentioned in Articles 32(1)(a) to 32(1)(d) (inclusive) of the UK GDPR.
- 1.2. Without prejudice to its other obligations, including as appropriate:
  - 1.2.1 encryption of data in transit by using suitable encryption solutions such as using https;

- 1.2.2 encryption of data at rest on all devices, including portable devices, using suitable encryption solutions;
- 1.2.3 only accessing data remotely using secure networks;
- 1.2.4 use of multi-factor authentication for internet facing systems;
- 1.2.5 timely decommissioning and secure wiping (that renders data unrecoverable) of old software and hardware;
- 1.2.6 secure disposal of hard copy documents;
- 1.2.7 completing regular software updates to all hardware and software;
- 1.2.8 real-time protection anti-virus and anti-malware software and web filtering on all systems;
- 1.2.9 firewalls and intrusion detection and prevention systems at the network edge;
- 1.2.10 the use of user access control management, including username and password restrictions, and audit logs;
- 1.2.11 enforcing unique passwords of sufficient complexity and regular expiry on all devices;
- 1.2.12 the use of data backup and disaster recovery measures and procedures;
- 1.2.13 procedures to ensure modifications to any systems, software or hardware are managed to ensure the ongoing confidentiality, integrity, availability of all data:
- 1.2.14 implementation of relevant policies covering Information Security, Data Protection, Bring Your Own Device, Acceptable Use and Clear Desk;
- 1.2.15 regular training of all Staff on confidentiality, data processing obligations, identification of Personal Data Breaches and risks;
- 1.2.16 suitable physical controls in place to protect data, networks and premises such as physical security on premises including reception or front desk, security passes, storage of documents in secure cabinets, secure disposal of materials, CCTV.
- 1.2.17 annual testing to assess and evaluate the effectiveness of the security measures set out in this paragraph 1.2 of this Schedule.

# NFDC STANDARD CLAUSE: SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND VULNERABLE ADULTS

#### 1. SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND VULNERABLE ADULTS

1.1 The parties acknowledge that the Contractor is a Regulated Activity Provider with ultimate responsibility for the management and control of the Regulated Activity provided under this Contract and for the purposes of the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006.

#### 1.2 The Contractor shall:

- ensure that all individuals engaged in Regulated Activity are subject to a valid enhanced disclosure check for regulated activity undertaken through the Disclosure and Barring Service; and
- b) monitor the level and validity of the checks under this clause 1.2 for each member of staff.
- c) not employ or use the services of any person who is barred from, or whose previous conduct or records indicate that he or she would not be suitable to carry out Regulated Activity or who may otherwise present a risk to Service Users.
- 1.3 The Contractor warrants that at all times for the purposes of this Contract it has no reason to believe that any person who is or will be employed or engaged by the Contractor in the provision of the Services is barred from the activity in accordance with the provisions of the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 and any regulations made thereunder, as amended from time to time.
- 1.4 The Contractor shall immediately notify the Service Purchaser of any information that it reasonably requests to enable it to be satisfied that the obligations of this clause 1 have been met.
- 1.5 The Contractor shall refer information about any person carrying out the Services to the DBS where it removes permission for such person to carry out the Services (or would have, if such person had not otherwise ceased to carry out the Services) because, in its opinion, such person has harmed or poses a risk of harm to the Service Users **OR** children **OR** vulnerable adults.
- 1.6 The Contractor agrees to comply with New Forest District Council's Safeguarding Children, Young People & Adults at Risk Policy & Procedures ("the Policy"), as may be amended. In doing so, the Contractor will ensure that all its employees, servants, sub-contractors and/or agents, whether paid or voluntary, are familiar with the Policy and will operate according to the same and incorporate its requirements into existing work practices.
- 1.7 The Contractor acknowledges that the Council may require any of the Contractors employees, servants, sub-contractors and/or agents providing services to the Council to provide written confirmation (signed declaration) of agreement to the Policy.

Name	Kim Faulkner
Position	Managing Director
	NameAP Faulkner (Heating) Ltd 19/09/2025
Signature	& Faul



# **Appendix C2 – Cost Service Quality Response Form**

**Instructions for Tenderers:** Please complete in full and upload as part of your response by the close date specified in the Quotation. **Note:** When uploading your responses please amend the filename to add your Company Name (Supplier Name).

The tenderer shall provide information on the method and approach to be taken as to how the services set out in **Appendix B - Specification** will be delivered in line with the **Appendix A - Contract Terms.** Please provide a response to EACH section in the response table below (>>) making a cross reference to any additional sheets or information requested in the relevant question.

**Evaluation Scoring:** The scoring method employed by the Councils evaluation team is detailed in the "**Guide for Tenderers**" issued as part of the tender documentation pack. ALL Questions will be scored using the 10-point scoring method unless stated otherwise.

Failure to complete this Form will invalidate your tender response.

# Tender Title e-ITT for the establishment of a Framework Agreement for the Replacement of Domestic Boilers in Council Housing (2025-2029) Your Company Name >>AP Faulkner (Heating) Ltd Address >>Unit K, Bridge Farm, Reading Road, Arborfield, Reading Berks RG2 9HT E-Mail >>melf@faulkner-heating.co.uk Contact Name and Telephone Number >>Mel Faulkner – 0118 9769248 Company Registration No. >>00804474



#### Cost Element – 40%

## CO1. Tendered Cost 40%

**Tenderers:** The evaluation of the **Tendered Cost** element will set the lowest compliant bid (that delivers the outcome specification in full) as the benchmark to which other bids will be compared pro-rata.

Fixed price quotation for delivery of services in line with the project specification and contract conditions.

Note: All bids evaluated MUST deliver the outcome specification in full.

#### Response

Please complete Appendix C3 – Sheet C01 Pricing Response

Please use the space below to provide full details of your fixed price quotation including explanatory details as to how your costs have been calculated to deliver our outcome specification.

>> With over 60 years of experience delivering heating solutions to local authorities, Faulkners has built a reputation as one of the most reliable and respected heating installation contractors in the region. Our long-standing partnerships with councils, including projects of similar scale and complexity, have equipped us with the operational capacity, technical expertise, and commercial insight to deliver this framework efficiently and cost-effectively.

Our fixed price quotation has been developed in full alignment with the Council's outcome specification, including the standardised boiler packs and menu pricing structure outlined in Appendix C3. We have carefully reviewed the scope, functional requirements, and performance expectations, and our pricing reflects a comprehensive understanding of the Council's objectives, including quality assurance, tenant satisfaction, and value for money.

Our pricing methodology is underpinned by several key principles:

#### 1. Supply Chain Stability and Cost Control

We work exclusively with a network of trusted national suppliers and leading boiler manufacturers, ensuring consistent pricing, reliable stock availability, and timely delivery. This approach significantly reduces the risk of cost fluctuations and programme delays. While alternative suppliers may offer lower upfront costs, our experience has shown that they often lack the resilience and responsiveness required for high-volume, time-sensitive



programmes. Our supplier branches maintain adequate stock levels to support the Council's rolling schedule and ad-hoc requirements.

#### 2. Experienced Estimating Team

Our dedicated estimating team includes specialists in both mechanical and electrical disciplines. Each estimator brings deep sector knowledge and draws on a robust database of historical cost data from similar contracts. This ensures our pricing is both realistic and evidence-based. All costings are reviewed and validated by a company director to ensure optimal resource allocation and commercial efficiency before submission.

#### 3. Outcome-Focused Costing

Our quotation is structured to deliver the Council's desired outcomes, including full compliance with CDM regulations, tenant liaison, waste disposal, certification, and warranty registration. We have priced each boiler type and associated works in accordance with the Council's standard menu, ensuring transparency and ease of validation. Our rates also account for the provision of emergency call-outs for defective works, as required under the framework.

#### 4. Capacity and Performance

Our operational model is designed to scale. We have successfully delivered up to 60 boiler replacements per week for a major housing association client, demonstrating our ability to meet high-volume demands while maintaining quality and customer satisfaction. Our team includes qualified site managers, resident liaison officers, and Gas Safe engineers, all trained to deliver works in occupied homes with minimal disruption.

#### 5. Continuous Improvement and Value for Money

We are committed to continuous improvement and performance monitoring. Our internal audit processes, combined with external quality checks, ensure that every installation meets the Council's specification. We also actively seek tenant feedback to refine our service delivery and ensure value for money across the contract term.

In summary, our fixed price quotation is the result of a rigorous, data-driven process that reflects our deep understanding of the Council's requirements and our proven ability to deliver high-quality, cost-effective boiler replacements at scale.

Word count – Max 500 words



# **Service Quality Elements – 60%**

# SQ1 – Experience Elements – 15%

#### SQ1.1 Organisation, Project Team & Associated Risks

10%

Please describe how your organisation is set up to deliver the services required by the Council under this contract. This should include details of your operating facilities e.g. head office, manufacturing centres, depots, logistics', warehousing, equipment assets.

Please set out your project team structure with summary CVs for project team members demonstrating <u>relevant</u> skills and experience of each including qualifications and accreditations held and previous experience team members have of working with each other.

Please detail your experience of assisting relevant organisations (particularly local authorities) and your understanding of the risks associated with the delivery of this contract.

#### Response

>> Faulkners are a well-established, ISO 9001, 14001, and 45001 accredited contractor with a proven track record in over the last 60 years of delivering high-quality domestic boiler installations for local authorities and housing associations. We are fully equipped to meet the requirements of NFDC's boiler replacement framework, offering a robust operational structure, experienced personnel, and a responsive, customer-focused approach.

#### **Operating Facilities and Resources**

Our Head Office is located in Arborfield, Reading, with a strong regional presence in the Southampton and Portsmouth areas, including local engineers, supervisors, and a company Director. This ensures rapid mobilisation and efficient delivery across the New Forest District. Our directly employed workforce includes Gas Safe registered engineers, NICEIC-qualified electricians, and small works builders, supported by a dedicated back office Operations team. We operate a 24/7 emergency call-out service, with out-of-hours engineers and a gas-qualified coordinator.

We utilise JobLogic software for real-time job tracking, appointment scheduling, and certification management. This system integrates with Microsoft SharePoint and Teams, enabling seamless data sharing and reporting. NFDC will have access to a secure portal for live updates on installation progress, service dates, resident-specific requirements and certification.

#### **Project Team Structure**



Our delivery team is led by Contracts Director Ian Rabbitts (20+ years' experience and gas safe registered), who oversees all operational aspects and ensures compliance with KPIs, health & safety, and client satisfaction. He is supported by:

- **Gas Technical Manager** (Steve Fleming) 20+ years' experience, manages technical standards, quality, training, and resident liaison, gas safe registered, housing association background
- **Operations Manager** (Emma Lupton) 5 years managing boiler replacement scheduling and documentation compliance. Excellent resident liaison skills.
- **Electrical Manager** (Mike Small)— NICEIC Qualifying Supervisor, oversees electrical compliance and certification.
- **Supervisor/Surveyor** (Matt Miller)— Gas-qualified, based in Portsmouth, with strong resident liaison skills and experience on similar housing contracts.

All technical team members hold relevant qualifications and accreditations, including CCN1, CENWAT, HTR1, CKR1, and robust H&S training (asbestos awareness, CDM, COSHH, etc.). A full management structure is provided in *Appendix 1*.

#### **Relevant Experience and Risk Management**

We have extensive experience delivering boiler replacements for housing associations and local authorities including responsive and planned works for Sovereign Network Group, Abri Group, Housing Solutions, Soha Housing, Reading BC, Oxford City Council. Our ability to complete installations within 24 hours of survey demonstrates our agility and resource capacity. We understand the importance of resident liaison, clean site management, and timely certification—all of which are embedded in our processes.

We recognise key risks such as resident disruption, access issues, and documentation delays. Our mitigation strategies include proactive communication, CDM compliant H&S Plans, dynamic risk assessments, flexible scheduling, and internal QA audits. Our JobLogic system ensures all documentation (LGSRs, Benchmark, warranties) are submitted well within NFDC's two-week requirement, with KPI tracking to support continuous improvement.

Faulkners are committed to delivering a high-quality, compliant, and responsive service that aligns with NFDC's framework objectives and performance expectations.

Word count - Max 500 words

SQ1.2	Reference Contracts	5%
<b>SQ1.2</b>	Reference Contracts	5

Please list and describe up to 3 similar Contracts in terms of size and complexity that you have been appointed to or delivered within the past 3 years. Please provide Client referee contact details for each so a reference may be sought by the Council.

Please indicate the key aspects of "one" of your similar reference contracts listed above and fully describe how you approached the service provision.

Notes:



Reference contracts should NOT be any relating to New Forest District Council as it will not be scored. However, you are free to add a concise list of any prior NFDC contracts won, contact point and date as additional information only.

The Council may at its own discretion contact named referees to obtain feedback concerning the tenderers performance under the reference contracts.

#### Response



Contract 1 Contract 2 Contract 3

Name of customer organisationSovereign Network Group Abri Group (formerly Silva Homes) Soha Housing

Point of contact in the organisation 
Tom Ricketts

**Rachel Spicer** 

Michael Hughes

Position in the organisation Technical Manager – Gas Installations

Investment Programme Manager

Surveyor

E-mail address Tom.ricketts@sng.org

Rachel.spicer@abri.co.uk

mhughes@soha.co.uk

Description of contract Gas Boiler Replacement, Full Gas Heating & Responsive Air Source Heat Pump installations

Planned & Responsive Gas Boiler Replacement Programme
Responsive and Planned Gas Boiler Replacements and full heating installations

Gas Full Heating to occupied multi-occupancy housing

Responsive and Planned ASHP Installations

Contract completion date 30/09/2025 31/08/2025 Responsive and Planned Gas Boiler Replacements and full heating installations



Gas Full Heating to occupied multi-occupancy housing (30/09/2023)

Responsive and Planned ASHP Installations (31/03/2026)

Estimated contract value Gas Boiler Replacement, Full Gas Heating & Responsive Air Source Heat Pump installations – approx. £4 million per annum

Approx £900,000 per annum Responsive and Planned Gas Boiler Replacements and full heating installations – approx. £900,000 per annum

Gas Full Heating to occupied multi-occupancy housing - £250,000

Responsive and Planned ASHP Installations – approx. £600,000 per annum

Key Aspects of the Sovereign Network Group (SNG) Contract

We carry out gas boiler and full heating replacements and Air Source Heat Pump installations in domestic occupied properties for SNG. We complete approximately 1200 gas installations per annum and 200-300 ASHP installations. We have worked for Sovereign Housing for over 25 years (via consecutive tender submissions) and currently manage all their planned and responsive gas heating programmes (including boiler replacements, conversions, system upgrades and gas full heating) in 5 regions (Oxfordshire, Berkshire, Hampshire, Dorset & West of England) as well as managing all their Air Source Heat Pump installations.

Each property is individually surveyed and survey documentation processed by our Operations team. Once all survey information including Asbestos surveys have been checked, the installations are scheduled. Intermediary checks are made on all installations to ensure compliance with H&S, Quality and specification. Following a post installation inspection, all documentation is collated and quality checked. All certification is renamed for the client to their exact requirements and this is uploaded to Sovereign's SharePoint portal.



We also undertake plant room installations and modifications for Sovereign on request. Shared tracking spreadsheets are utilised on SharePoint allowing Sovereign to track and upload their Capital Expenditure and also to track EPC documentation when installing renewable energy appliances. This ultimately saves Sovereign time and money in their asset management.

As with all our clients, we ensure that we increase our installation rate during the spring and summer months. This not only reduces inconvenience to residents but also allows us to free up resources enabling us to assist with responsive/emergency installations during the winter months. Our resources are such that we are able to mobilise an emergency boiler change or ASHP installation within 24 hours including a full site survey – this contributes hugely to high levels of customer satisfaction.

Word count – Max 500 words

#### **SQ2 - Methodology & Project Management Element – 35%**

#### SQ2.1 Methodology

15%

Your proposed and specific methodology for undertaking all aspects of the requirement set out in the outcome specification (**Appendix B**). Please include details of how you would mobilise, establish and manage the contract including any innovative approaches included in your proposal.

#### Please include:

How you would approach the scheduling element of this contract. How would you manage the tenant liaison responsibilities associated with this contract?

In the event of a variation in materials—for example, a change from vertical to horizontal flues—how would you handle the process and communicate the change.

#### Response

# >> Programme

Faulkners Heating brings over 60 years of experience delivering heating solutions to local authorities, including long-term contracts with similar scope and complexity. Our approach to delivering the NFDC boiler replacement programme is built on a foundation of robust planning, digital innovation, and a deep commitment to resident satisfaction. We have the



capacity, systems, and expertise to mobilise quickly, manage the contract efficiently, and deliver high-quality outcomes in line with the Council's expectations.

#### 1. Mobilisation and Contract Establishment

Our mobilisation strategy, detailed in Appendix 2, outlines a structured and efficient plan to ensure a seamless transition from contract award to operational delivery. Upon award, we will appoint a dedicated contract team, including a Contracts Manager, Supervisor, Post-Installation Inspector, and a core team of Gas Safe engineers, electricians, and small works builders. Our administrative and operational teams, will support all aspects of contract delivery, ensuring responsiveness and continuity. Initial mobilisation meetings with NFDC's Contract Administrator will align expectations, communication protocols, KPI expectations and reporting formats.

#### 2. Scheduling and Workflow Management

Faulkners uses the JobLogic system to streamline and efficiently manage all aspects of scheduling, workflow, and documentation. This comprehensive platform allows us to plan and allocate jobs accurately, from the initial survey through to the expiry of the warranty. It also ensures that all necessary paperwork and certification are completed and easily accessible at each stage. Route planning technology within the system optimises work allocation, ensuring operatives are assigned tasks based on their relevant skill sets and geographical locations. This improves efficiency and maintains high standards of workmanship. By deploying JobLogic's scheduling and tracking technology, we maintain full control and visibility over every job, enabling us to monitor progress in real-time, manage delays proactively, and facilitate effective communication across all teams.

#### 3. Managing Tenant Liaison Responsibilities

Effective communication and proactive engagement are vital for managing tenant liaison responsibilities under this contract. Our approach begins with an introductory letter that introduces Faulkners Heating to the tenants, outlining the scope of works and including contact details for direct queries. Dedicated contact numbers will facilitate straightforward communication for scheduling survey appointments, installations, and addressing out-of-hours defects or urgent issues. Tenants will be kept informed of progress through regular updates, and we will establish clear channels for reporting concerns or feedback. A designated point of contact will handle all tenant communications, ensuring consistent messaging and swift resolution of issues. We will also offer flexibility to accommodate tenants' schedules wherever possible, minimising disruption. Our approach prioritises clear, respectful communication, responsiveness, and a commitment to maintaining positive relationships with tenants throughout the project duration.

#### 4. The Customer Journey

We place the resident at the heart of our service delivery. The customer journey begins with clear communication and continues through every stage of the installation process. From the initial survey, where the scope of works, timescales, and access requirements are explained, to the installation phase, where our engineers work respectfully in occupied homes, we ensure residents feel informed and supported. Post-installation, we provide all necessary documentation and gather feedback to ensure satisfaction. Our supervisors conduct daily site visits to monitor progress and address any resident concerns, while our head office team



remains available to support residents with queries or complaints. This holistic approach ensures a positive and seamless customer journey.

#### **5. Handling Material Variations and Communicating Changes**

In the event of a variation in materials—such as a change from vertical to horizontal flues—we follow a structured process to manage the change efficiently and transparently. Initially, any proposed variation will be assessed by our technical team to understand the implications, including costs, timelines, and compliance with relevant standards. Once the variation has been reviewed and approved internally, we will communicate the change promptly through a formal variation notice. This notice will clearly specify the reason for the change, the scope of the variation, any additional costs or time implications, and the revised schedule if required. Throughout the process, we will maintain open lines of communication to address any questions or concerns, ensuring all parties are fully informed before proceeding with the variation. This approach guarantees transparency, minimises disruption, and maintains the integrity of the project.

#### 6. Continuous Improvement and Contract Management

We will attend regular review meetings with NFDC to review performance against KPIs, update the rolling schedule, and discuss feedback and improvement opportunities. All feedback is logged in our Continuous Service Improvement Plan and used to refine our processes. Our internal audit processes, combined with external quality checks, ensure that every installation meets the Council's specification. We also actively seek tenant feedback to refine our service delivery and ensure value for money across the contract term.

Word count – Max 1000 words

SQ2.2	Scenario		20%
-------	----------	--	-----

Please set out your approach to the following scenario.

You have completed a boiler replacement at a property and the team have left the site. A few hours later, at 6pm, the resident phones to report a water leak from the installation. How would you manage and respond to that situation?

#### Response

>> At Faulkners, we recognise that a water leak following a boiler installation can be a deeply distressing experience for residents. It disrupts daily life, raises concerns about property damage, and can create anxiety around safety and resolution. We have therefore built a robust, resident-focused emergency response system that prioritises safety, empathy, and rapid resolution — ensuring that residents feels supported and every issue is resolved efficiently and professionally.

#### **Immediate Access and Reassurance**

We operate a dedicated, 24-hour emergency helpline, clearly displayed on the boiler's warranty sticker and included in all handover documentation. This ensures residents can reach us quickly and easily, even outside of standard working hours. When a resident calls



at 6pm to report a leak, they are immediately connected to a trained member of our team — not an automated system.

Our emergency coordinators are gas-qualified professionals who understand both the technical and emotional aspects of emergency situations. They listen attentively, provide calm reassurance, and begin the process of triaging the issue with empathy and professionalism.

#### **Structured Call Handling and Safety First**

During the initial call, we ask a series of targeted but simple questions to assess the severity and nature of the leak:

- Where is the leak located (e.g., boiler, pipework, under sink)?
- Is the leak continuous or intermittent?
- Has any water damage occurred or is there a risk to electrical systems?
- Is the boiler still operating or has it shut down?

Based on the resident's responses, we provide clear, step-by-step guidance to ensure their immediate safety. This may include:

- Turning off the main water supply (if safe and accessible)
- Switching off the boiler or affected appliance
- Avoiding contact with water near electrical outlets or appliances

Our goal is to empower residents to take safe, temporary measures while our team mobilises a rapid response.

#### Rapid Deployment and Professional On-Site Support

Thanks to our extensive network of qualified engineers and our commitment to responsive service, we aim to have an operative on site within one hour of the emergency call. All our engineers are:

- DBS checked
- Uniformed and carry photo ID
- Drive liveried vans for easy identification
- Trained in resident liaison and safeguarding protocols

We understand that evening or night-time callouts can make residents feel vulnerable. Our engineers are trained to approach these situations with sensitivity, professionalism, and respect. They will introduce themselves clearly, explain the steps they're taking, and ensure the resident feels safe and informed throughout the visit.

Upon arrival, the engineer will:

- Assess the leak and its source
- Carry out immediate repairs where possible
- Ensure the system is safe and operational before leaving

If the heating cannot be reconnected immediately, temporary heaters will be left with the resident (with instructions for use). If the issue requires non-standard parts or further



investigation, the engineer will make the system safe and secure, preventing further water escape. A follow-up visit will be scheduled at the earliest opportunity, and the resident will be kept informed throughout.

#### **Resident Care and Clean-Up**

Our engineers are not only technically skilled but also trained to support residents in practical ways. Where possible, they will assist with basic clean-up efforts, such as mopping up water or helping move affected items. We believe that small gestures of care make a big difference in stressful situations.

#### **Incident Documentation and Client Communication**

All emergency callouts are logged in real-time using our JobLogic mobile software. This includes:

- Time of call and response
- Nature of the issue
- Actions taken on site
- Resident feedback and follow-up requirements

This information is immediately available to our Service Team at Head Office and shared with the client to ensure full transparency and accountability. Our system allows for seamless communication between field operatives, management, and client representatives.

#### **Managing Property Damage and Resident Impact**

In the rare event that a leak causes damage to the resident's property or belongings, we act swiftly and sensitively. The attending engineer will:

- Take detailed photographs of the affected areas
- Log the incident in JobLogic
- Notify our Technical Gas Manager immediately

The following day, the Technical Manager will contact the resident directly to discuss the situation and agree on the best course of action. This may include:

- A site visit by a senior manager or supervisor
- Assessment of damage and required repairs
- Coordination with the client to approve remedial works

Our goal is to resolve any damage quickly and fairly, minimising disruption and maintaining the resident's trust. We understand that how we respond to unexpected issues reflects our values and professionalism.

#### **Continuous Improvement and Quality Assurance**

Every emergency response is reviewed as part of our Continuous Service Improvement Plan, which forms a core component of our ISO 9001, 14001, and 45001 Integrated Management System. Resident feedback is logged, analysed, and used to refine our



procedures. Lessons learned are embedded into our training, operational protocols, and client reporting.

We also conduct regular internal audits and client reviews to ensure our emergency response standards remain high and evolve with changing needs. Our commitment to quality is not just procedural — it's cultural.

#### **Client Partnership and Complaint Prevention**

We work closely with our clients to ensure that emergency situations are handled in a way that reflects their values and priorities. By responding quickly, communicating clearly, and resolving issues effectively, we help prevent complaints and maintain resident satisfaction.

Our proactive approach means that even when things go wrong, they are put right swiftly and professionally — reinforcing confidence in both Faulkners and our client partners.

#### **Conclusion: A Trusted Partner in Emergency Response**

At Faulkners, we don't just install boilers — we build trust. Our emergency response system is designed to protect residents, support clients, and uphold the highest Word count – Max 1000 words

## **SQ3 – Climate & Nature Emergency – 10%**

# SQ3.1 Environmental Impact of your proposal

10%

On 6 October 2021 NFDC declared a climate change and nature emergency for the district at our meeting of full Council. The announcement builds on our environmental and sustainability actions to further focus on outcomes that will provide positive benefits to the world-wide climate change agenda.

#### See NFDC Website:

https://newforest.gov.uk/article/3112/Climate-change

Tenderers are to set out below how their proposals would bring benefits to the Climate Change and Nature Emergency and specifically what innovations and improvements will be delivered from the start of contract and step changes to be delivered throughout the contract life cycle under the impact headings of;

- Nature
- Health
- Economic
- Social

Please specify how your organisation plans to measure climate & nature emergency mitigations along with targets you would deliver through the contract life cycle.



#### Response

#### >> Nature

- 1. **Biodiversity Enhancement**: We can implement measures to protect and enhance local biodiversity. This could include planting native species around installation sites and creating green spaces where an installation may have required removal of exterior planting such as around oil tank removal
- 2. **Installation methods** we include reference to the protection of protected species and wildlife in our method statements for installations.
- 3. **Carbon Footprint Reduction**: We install energy-efficient boilers and energy saving controls that reduce carbon emissions. We can track and report the reduction in greenhouse gases over the contract life cycle. To achieve this we will utilise the Services of our Carbon Reduction Planning consultants (Team works) to ensure accurate Carbon footprint reporting and Carbon Reduction Planning over the life of the contract.
- 4. **Waste Management**: We will ensure proper disposal and recycling of old boilers and installation materials to minimize environmental impact.

#### Health

- 1. **Air Quality Improvement**: We will be installing the latest boiler technology that produce fewer pollutants, improving indoor and outdoor air quality.
- 2. **Health and Safety Standards**: We adhere to strict health and safety standards during installation to protect workers and residents.
- 3. **Public Health Benefits**: We can during our installations help to educate residents on the health benefits of efficient heating systems, such as reduced respiratory issues from cleaner air.

#### **Economic**

- 1. **Cost Savings**: We can highlight the long-term cost savings for residents due to reduced energy consumption and lower utility bills.
- 2. **Job Creation**: We can where possible create local employment opportunities through the installation and maintenance of new heating systems apprenticeship opportunities could be offered.
- 3. **Economic Resilience**: Support local businesses by sourcing materials and services locally, contributing to the local economy.

#### Social

- 1. **Community Engagement**: We can involve the community in the planning and implementation process. Hold informational sessions and provide updates on progress.
- 2. **Equity and Inclusion**: We will ensure that all community members, including vulnerable populations, have access to the benefits of the new heating systems.



3. **Education and Awareness**: We can promote awareness about climate change and the importance of energy efficiency through workshops and educational materials.

By focusing on these areas, we can contribute to the NFDC's goals of tackling the local climate emergency and creating a sustainable future. For more details on NFDC's initiatives, you can visit their Climate Change page.

#### Waste Segregation

**Categorize Waste**: Our licensed Waste Carriers will separate waste into categories such as recyclable materials, hazardous waste, and general waste. This helps in proper disposal and recycling. Currently we are achieving 100% recycling of our boiler replacement waste

#### **Recycling and Reuse**

- 1. **Material Recovery**: We identify materials that can be recycled or reused, such as metals, plastics, and certain components of old boilers.
- 2. **Partnerships with Recycling Facilities**: We collaborate with certified recycling facilities to ensure that recyclable materials are processed correctly.

#### **Hazardous Waste Management**

**Compliance with Regulations**: We follow local and national regulations for the disposal of hazardous waste to avoid legal issues and environmental harm.

# **Documentation and Reporting**

**Waste Tracking**: We maintain records of the types and quantities of waste generated, how they were disposed of, and where they were sent with a target of continued 100% recycling – individual waste transfer notes per property

# **Training and Awareness**

- 1. **Awareness Campaigns**: We conduct in-house training to educate employees and clients about the importance of waste management and their role in it.
- 2. **Employee surveys** send carbon emission surveys to all employees to ascertain their Scope 3 impact on the company's carbon footprint.

# **Continuous Improvement**

- 1. **Regular Audits**: We conduct regular audits of waste management and carbon emission practices to identify areas for improvement.
- 2. **Feedback Mechanisms**: Implement feedback mechanisms to gather input from staff and clients on how to improve waste and carbon footprint management processes.



Word count – Max 1000 words

## **SQ4 - Additional Information – (Not Scored)**

#### SQ4.1 Conflicts of interest

Do you consider that there could be any potential conflicts of interest in undertaking this work? How will they be managed?

#### Response

>> We do not consider there to be any potential conflicts of interest in undertaking this work.

Word count – Max 250 words

#### SQ4.2 Terms and conditions

Do you accept the terms and conditions set out in Appendix A of the tender?

#### Response

>>Yes we accept the terms and conditions set out in Appendix A of the tender Word count – Max 250 words

# Appendix C3 - Pricing Response Form Replacement of Domestic Boilers in Council Housing

#### Uplift % Rates

Opint % Rates					
Uplift Rate %**	Uplift Description				
Overhead & Profit Uplift %	This is the uplift % that your company has applied on top of the total direct labour costs to cover non-direct labour costs (this is the indirect costs related to management & back office support) and profit margin.	25.00%			
Materials Uplift %	This is the uplift % your company has applied on top of the best value OEM / equivalent material supplier invoice cost e.g. your suppliers invoice Cost £ + $\{Y\%\}$ uplift charge.	25.00%			

\*inclusive of all specifications outlined in Appendix B1 Programme of Works

#### Schedule of Rates

Equipment	Description and TP code		Cost £ Materials			Forecasted Volume (for tender evaluation purposes only)	Forecasted Value over contract term
Standard boiler Pack A (Conventional Boiler)		per pack	£1,724.14	£668.75	£2,392.89	350	£837,511.50
Standard boiler pack B (Combination Boiler)		per pack	£1,574.85	£663.75	£2,238.60	245	£548,457.00
		per pack	£1,798.96	£668.75	£2,467.71	105	£259,109.55

#### Variations

Variations							
15MM PIPE	15mm copper	per metre	£4.69	£9.38	£14.07	140	£1.969.80
22MM PIPE	22mm copper	per metre	£8.51	£9.38	£17.89	140	£2,504.60
20MM OVERFLOW	20mm overflow	per metre	£2.30	£0.63	£2.93	140	£410.20
32MM WASTE PIPE	32mm waste pipe	per metre	£3.60	£9.38	£12.98	140	£1.817.20
40MM WASTE PIPE	40mm waste pipe	per metre	£3.63	£9.38	£13.01	140	£1.821.40
TRV'S	Drayton RT414 15MM ANG TRV + L/S	per item	£24.88	£9.38	£34.26	140	£4.796.40
LOCKSHEILDS	Drayton 15mm ang lockshield+wh cap	per item	£5.09	£9.38	£14.47	140	£2.025.80
FLUE	Worcester-Bosch Vertical Flue Kit	per kit	£143.10	£62.50	£205.60	140	£28.784.00
ROOF SLATE	Worcester-Bosch Pitched Weathering Slate	per slate	£50.91	£18.75	£69.66	140	£9.752.40
FLUE EXTENSIONS	Worcester-Bosch 1000mm Flue Extension	ner item	£59.61	£9.38	£68 99	140	£9.658.60
45 BEND	Worcester-Bosch 45 degree Flue Bends	per item	£89.41	£9.38	£98.79	140	£13.830.60
90 BEND	Worcester-Bosch 90 degree Flue Bends	per item	£4.69	£9.38	£14.07	140	£1.969.80
FLUE CLIPS	Worcester-Bosch Flue Clips	per item	£23,60	£0.63	£24.23	140	£3.392.20
PLUME KIT	Worcester-Bosch Plume Kit	per item	£86.33	£37.50	£123.83	210	£26,004.30
BOSS SOAK AWAY	Boss soak away	per item	£13.58	£65.63	£79.21	70	£5,544.70
LIMETONE CHIPPINGS	Limestone chippings	per bag/box	£6.50	£9.38	£15.88	70	£1.111.60
CONDENSATE PUMP	Grandfos Conlift1	ner item	£78.95	£131.25	£210.20	70	£14.714.00
FLUE Variation	Worcester Long telescopic flue	per item	£113.53	£9.38	£122.91	70	£8,603.70
TECE VALIDATION	WORCESTER CONDENSFIT II TELESCOPIC HORIZ FLUE 80/125 KIT WHITE 771900:	per item	£171.48	£18.75	£190.23	70	£13.316.10
	WORCESTER CONDENSETT 125MM VERTICAL FLUE KIT 7719002431	per item	£171.48 £193.96	£62.50	£256.46	70	£13,516.10 £17.952.20
5 Inch flue variations	WORCESTER FLASHING KIT PITCHED ROOF 7716191091	ner item	£50.91	£18.75	£69.66	70	£4.876.20
	WORCESTER CONDENSFIT II ELBOW 80/125 45 DEGREE WHITE 7719003665	ner item	£49.68	£9.38	£59.06	70	£4.134.20
	WORCESTER CONDENSETT II ELBOW 80/125 90 DEGREE 7719003664	ner item	£49.68	£9.38	£59.06	70	£4.134.20 £4.134.20
AIKO Cabon Monoxide Alarm	AICO EIZOS CO ALARM LITHIUM BATTERY (Supply & Install)	ner item	£22.60	£9.38	£31.98	280	£8,954.40
Replacement of Single Radiator	(up to 600m Height, up to 600mm Width)	per item	£42.66	£12.50	£55.16	70	£3,934.40 £3.861.20
Replacement of Single Radiator	(up to 600m Height, up to 1200mm Width)	per item	£79.73	£12.50	£92.23	70	£6.456.10
Replacement of Single Radiator	(up to 600m Height, up to 1800mm Width)	per item	£118.83	£12.50	£131.33	70	£9,438.10 £9.193.10
Replacement of P+ Radiator	(up to 600m Height, up to 600mm Width)	per item	£64.19	£12.50	£76.69	70	£5.368.30
Replacement of P+ Radiator  Replacement of P+ Radiator	(up to 600m Height, up to 920mm Width)	per item	£120.86	£12.50	£70.05	70	£9,386.30 £9,335.20
Replacement of P+ Radiator	(up to 600m Height, up to 1800mm Width)	per item	£120.88	£12.50	£193.19	70	£13.523.30
Replacement of Prikadiator	(up to 600m Height, up to 600mm Width)	per item	£73.38	£12.50	£85.88	70	£6,011,60
Replacement of Double Radiator	(up to 600m Height, up to 1200mm Width)	per item	£125.48	£12.50	£137.98	70	£9.658.60
Replacement of Double Radiator	(up to 600m Height, up to 1800mm Width)	per item	£204.81	£25.00	£229.81	70	£16.086.70
Replacement of indirect vented cylinder (up to 140L)	(up to 800m Reight, up to 1800mm width)	per item	£417.50	£62.50	£480.00	70	£33,600.00
Relocation of Boiler to new position		per metre	£18.75	£37.50	£56.25	140	£7.875.00
Conversion to a different boiler type		per inecre per item	£187.50	£150.00	£337.50	140	£47,250.00
Contention to a different boner type	Scaffolding Provide, erect, maintain for a period ne 1 week, dismantle, tubular	per reem	2207.30	1130.00	2337.30	240	147,130.00
	aluminium "zip-up" type tower scaffolding ne 5.00m high with ladders, pulley	1			I		
SCAFFOLD TOWER: PROVIDE NE 5.0M HIGH 1 LIFT ZIP UP	rope, wheel fixings, 1 lift of boards.	per item	F84 24	£176.80	£261.04	140	£36.545.60
The second secon	Scaffolding Provide, erect, maintain for a period ne 1 week, dismantle, tubular		204.24	22.0.00		2.10	
SCAFFOLD TOWER: PROVIDE NE 7.5M HIGH 1 LIFT ZIP UP	aluminium "zip-up" type tower scaffolding ne 7.50m high with ladders, pulley						
	rope, wheel fixings, 1 lift of boards.	per item	£161.20	£486.20	£647.40	70	£45,318.00
	Scaffolding:Provide, erect, maintain for ne 1 week, dismantle, tubular						
	aluminium "zip-up" type tower scaffolding over 7.50m and ne 10.00m high	1			I		
SCAFFOLD TOWER: PROVIDE NE 10.0M HIGH 2 LIFT ZIP UP	with ladders, pulley ropes, 2 lifts of boards etc	per item	£222.30	£486.20	£708.50	70	£49,595.00
	Scaffolding:Provide, erect, maintain for ne 1 week, dismantle, tubular	1			1		
SCAFFOLD TOWER: PROVIDE NE 12.5M HIGH 2 LIFT ZIP UP	aluminium "zip-up" type tower scaffolding over 10.00m and ne 12.50m high	1			I		
	with ladders, pulley ropes, 2 lifts of boards etc	per item	£261.25	£486.20	£747.45	70	£52,321.50
		1			I		
	Duct Renew pipe duct / truncking casing up to 300mm wide, screw to framing	1					
PIPEWORK DUCTING UP TO 300MM WIDTH	with brass cups and screws if required, and remove waste and debris.	per item	£50.00	£37.50	£87.50	70	£6,125.00
	For any additional works, making good (as per Appendix B1 Programme of	1	I		I		
MTO RATE	For any additional works, making good (as per Appendix B1 Programme of Works)	per hr	N/A	640.00	£40.00	100	64 000 00
MICHAIL	HOWAY.	per in	/A	240.00	240.00	200	£-9,000.00

£2,199,280.85 Grand Total

# **Appendix C3 - Pricing Response Form**

**Replacement of Domestic Boilers in Council Housing** 

Note to Tenderers - Please Complete ALL Yellow Highlighted sections

Tenders Name: A.P.Faulkner (Heating) Ltd

# **Boiler Packs - Materials Cost**

Equipment	Description and TP code	Quantity	Cost £ (inclusive of Materials Uplift % above)
Standard boiler Pack A (Heat o	• •		
BOILER	Worcester-Bosch Greenstar 15Ri (5 year warranty)	1	£951.64
FLUE	Worcester-Bosch Horizontal Flue Kit	1	£115.05
CONTROLS	Drayton Biflo PBBE66S	1	£117.30
TRV'S	Drayton RT414 15MM ANG TRV + L/S	6	£149.25
LOCKSHEILDS	Drayton 15mm ang lockshield+wh cap	2	£10.18
15MM PIPE	15mm copper	3 Meters	£10.31
22MM PIPE	22mm copper	3 Meters	£20.66
20MM OVERFLOW	20mm overflow	3 Meters	£4.41
32MM WASTE PIPE	32MM waste pipe	3 Meters	£8.30
40MM WASTE PIPE	40mm waste pipe	3 Meters	£8.30
HEATING PUMP	Grundfos UPS3	1	£136.05
PUMP VALVES	PUMP VALVES	2	£23.85
BYPASS	Drayton auto bypass	1	£23.51
MAGNACLEAN	Adey Magna clean Professional (including chemicals)	1	£82.04
F&E TANK	COLD WATER CISTERN PACK 18L	1	£10.33
TOTAL FOR BOILER PACK			£1,671.18
Standard boiler pack B (Combi			
BOILER	Worcester Greenstar 4000 25kw combi	1	£868.59
FLUE	Worcester-Bosch Horizontal Flue Kit	1	£115.05
FLUE ADAPTER	Worcester G/star flue adapter 60/100	1	£37.18
CONTROLS	Worcester Comfort+1 RF 7738112323	1	£160.55
TRV'S	Drayton RT414 15MM ANG TRV + L/S	6	£149.25
LOCKSHEILDS	Drayton 15mm ang lockshield+wh cap	2	£10.18
15MM PIPE	15mm copper	3 Meters	£10.31
22MM PIPE	22mm copper	3 Meters	£20.66
20MM OVERFLOW	20mm overflow	3 Meters	£6.91
Up to 40mm waste pipe.	40mm waste pipe OR 32MM waste pipe	3 Meters	£10.80
MAGNACLEAN	Adey atom filter (including chemicals)	1	£82.04
FILLING KEY	Worcester filling key	1	£30.94
INLINE SCALE REDUCER	Scale reducer	1	£13.53
ZILMET SHOCK ARREST VESSEL	Mini Vessel for Combi	1	£13.41
TOTAL FOR BOILER PACK		·	£1,529.40
Standard boiler pack C (System			
BOILER	WORCESTER GREENSTAR 4000 15KW SYSTEM BOILER	1	£1,115.84
FLUE	Worcester-Bosch Horizontal Flue Kit	1	£115.05
FLUE ADAPTER	Worcester G/star flue adapter 60/100	1	£37.18
CONTROLS	Drayton Biflo PBBE66S	1	£164.53
TRV'S	Drayton RT414 15MM ANG TRV + L/S	6	£149.25
LOCKSHEILDS	Drayton 15mm ang lockshield+wh cap	2	£10.18
15MM PIPE	15mm copper	3 Meters	£10.31
22MM PIPE	22mm copper	3 Meters	£20.66
20MM OVERFLOW	20mm overflow	3 Meters	£6.91
Up to 40mm waste pipe.			£10.80
MAGNACLEAN	Adey Magna clean Professional (including chemicals)	1	£82.04
FILLING KEY	Filling loop with gauge	1	£17.24
INLINE SCALE REDUCER	Scale reducer	1	£13.53
TOTAL FOR BOILER PACK	c		£1,753.52

# Domestic Boiler Replacement Contract - NFDC & AP Faulkner

Final Audit Report 2025-09-22

Created: 2025-09-19

By: Dean Irving (Dean.Irving@NFDC.GOV.UK)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAAIGwXaWav80lsxYScCH8ZhW5XqXUT3JGY

# "Domestic Boiler Replacement Contract - NFDC & AP Faulkner" History

- Document created by Dean Irving (Dean.Irving@NFDC.GOV.UK) 2025-09-19 09:53:23 GMT- IP address: 136.226.168.127
- Document emailed to Kim Faulkner (kimf@faulkner-heating.co.uk) for signature 2025-09-19 09:58:31 GMT
- Email viewed by Kim Faulkner (kimf@faulkner-heating.co.uk) 2025-09-19 09:58:45 GMT- IP address: 172.186.8.69
- Document e-signed by Kim Faulkner (kimf@faulkner-heating.co.uk)

  Signature Date: 2025-09-19 10:03:21 GMT Time Source: server- IP address: 51.52.173.250
- Document emailed to Melanie Faulkner (melf@faulkner-heating.co.uk) for signature 2025-09-19 10:03:31 GMT
- Email viewed by Melanie Faulkner (melf@faulkner-heating.co.uk) 2025-09-19 10:03:51 GMT- IP address: 172.186.8.160
- Document e-signed by Melanie Faulkner (melf@faulkner-heating.co.uk)

  Signature Date: 2025-09-19 13:04:40 GMT Time Source: server- IP address: 51.52.173.250
- Document emailed to paul.thomas@nfdc.gov.uk for signature 2025-09-19 13:04:51 GMT
- Email viewed by paul.thomas@nfdc.gov.uk 2025-09-19 14:36:20 GMT- IP address: 104.47.85.126
- Signer paul.thomas@nfdc.gov.uk entered name at signing as paul j thomas 2025-09-19 14:39:17 GMT- IP address: 170.85.62.87



- Document e-signed by paul j thomas (paul.thomas@nfdc.gov.uk)
  Signature Date: 2025-09-19 14:39:19 GMT Time Source: server- IP address: 170.85.62.87
- Document emailed to sophie.tuffin@nfdc.gov.uk for signature 2025-09-19 14:39:33 GMT
- Email viewed by sophie.tuffin@nfdc.gov.uk 2025-09-19 14:39:43 GMT- IP address: 85.210.240.79
- Email viewed by sophie.tuffin@nfdc.gov.uk 2025-09-22 08:38:20 GMT- IP address: 104.47.85.126
- Signer sophie.tuffin@nfdc.gov.uk entered name at signing as S.Tuffin 2025-09-22 08:40:17 GMT- IP address: 194.9.108.127
- Document e-signed by S.Tuffin (sophie.tuffin@nfdc.gov.uk)
  Signature Date: 2025-09-22 08:40:19 GMT Time Source: server- IP address: 194.9.108.127
- Agreement completed.
   2025-09-22 08:40:19 GMT